Public Document Pack

Council
Title:

Agenda

Date:

Wednesday 26 July 2017

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Council Chamber
District Offices
College Heath Road
Mildenhall

Membership:

All Councillors
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council
to transact the business on the agenda set out below.

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
18 July 2017
Quorum

One quarter of the total number of Members

Committee
administrator:

Helen Hardinge
Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01638 719363
Email: helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public Information
Venue:

Access to
agenda and
reports before
the meeting:
Attendance at
meetings:

Public
speaking:

District Offices
Tel: 01638 719000
College Heath Road Email: democratic.services@
Mildenhall
westsuffolk.gov.uk
Suffolk, IP28 7EY
Web: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk
Copies of the agenda and reports are open for public inspection
at the above address at least five clear days before the
meeting. They are also available to view on our website.
The District Council actively welcomes members of the public
and the press to attend its meetings and holds as many of its
meetings as possible in public.
At ordinary meetings of the Council, members of the public who
live or work in the District may put questions about the work of
the Council to members of the Cabinet or any Committee. 30
minutes will be set aside for this. 30 minutes will also be set
aside for questions at extraordinary meetings of the Council,
but must be limited to the business to be transacted at that
meeting.
A person who wishes to speak must register at least fifteen
minutes before the time the meeting is scheduled to start. This
can be done by sending the request to:
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or by telephoning
01638 719363 or in person by telling the Democratic Services
Officer present at the meeting.
Written questions, detailing the full question to be asked, may
be submitted by members of the public to the Service Manager
(Democratic Services) no later than 10.00am on the previous
working day to the meeting of the Council.
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Phone: 01638 719363

Disabled
access:

The public gallery is on the first floor and is accessible via
stairs. There is not a lift but disabled seating is available at the
back of the Council Chamber on the ground floor. Please see
the Democratic Services Officer who will be able to help you.

Induction

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone

Page No
loop:

wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.

Recording of
meetings:

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of
the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the
media and public are not lawfully excluded).
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to
being filmed should advise the Democratic Services Officer who
will instruct that they are not included in the filming.

Agenda
Procedural Matters
Part 1 - Public
Page No
1.

Minutes

1-8

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Council meeting
held on 14 June 2017 (copy attached).
2.

Chairman's Announcements

9 - 10

Report No: COU/FH/17/017
3.

Apologies for Absence

4.

Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a disclosable
pecuniary interest.

5.

The Leader's Report
Report No: COU/FH/17/018
Council Procedure Rule 8.2 states that ‘the Leader of the
Council will introduce the statement and members may ask the
Leader questions on the content of both his/her introductory
remarks and the written report. All questions will be answered
immediately by the Leader or by the relevant Cabinet Member if
the Leader refers any question to him or her, unless sufficient
information to give an answer is not available. In these
circumstances the member asking the question will receive a
response in writing within five working days of the Council
meeting at which the question was asked.’
8.3 - A total of 30 minutes will be allowed for questions and
responses. There will be a limit of five minutes for each question
to be asked and answered. The member asking the original
question may put a supplementary question arising from the
reply so long as the five minute limit is not exceeded.

11 - 14

Page No
6.

Public Participation
Council Procedure Rule 6 Members of the public who live or
work in the District are invited to put one question of not more
than five minutes duration. A person who wishes to speak must
register at least fifteen minutes before the time the meeting is
scheduled to start.*
(Note: the maximum time to be set aside for this item is 30
minutes, but if all questions are dealt with sooner, or if there are
no questions, the Council will proceed to the next business.)
Each person may ask one question only. A total of five minutes
will be allowed for the question to be put and answered.
One further question will be allowed arising directly from the
reply provided that the original time limit of five minutes is
not exceeded.
Written questions may be submitted by members of the public
to the Service Manager (Democratic Services) no later than
10.00am Tuesday 25 July 2017. The written notification
should detail the full question to be asked at the meeting of
the Council.*
*For further information, see the Public Information Sheet
attached to this agenda.

7.

Referrals Report of Recommendations from Cabinet

15 - 16

Report No: COU/FH/17/019
Referrals from Cabinet: 20 June 2017
1. Mildenhall Hub – Investing in Renewable Energy
Technologies
Cabinet Member: Councillor James Waters
(There is no direct referral emanating from the Cabinet
meeting in relation to this item. ‘Mildenhall Hub –
Business Case for Investing in Renewable Energy
Technologies’ is contained within the separate report (No:
COU/FH/17/021) at Agenda Item 9. on this Council
agenda.)
2. West Suffolk Pay Policy Statement 2017/2018
Cabinet Member: Councillor Stephen Edwards
8.

Community Governance Review
Report No: COU/FH/17/020

17 - 40

Page No
9.

Mildenhall Hub - Business Case for Investing in Renewable
Energy Technologies

41 - 64

Report No: COU/FH/17/021
10.

Annual Scrutiny Report: 2016/2017

65 - 84

Paragraph 7.5.1 of Article 7 of the Council’s Constitution requires
that ‘The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny Committee” must report annually to the full
Council on their workings and make recommendations for future
work programmes and amended working methods if appropriate’.
Report No: COU/FH/17/022
11.

Review of Political Balance and Appointment to Politically
Balanced Bodies
Report No: COU/FH/17/023

12.

Questions to Chairmen of other Committees
Licensing and Regulatory Committee
West Suffolk Joint Standards Committee
Development Control Committee
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

13.

19 June 2017
26 June 2017
5 July 2017
20 July 2017

Urgent Questions on Notice
The Council will consider any urgent questions on notice that
were notified to the Service Manager (Democratic Services) by
11.00am on the day of the meeting.

85 - 94

Agenda Item 1

Council
Minutes of a meeting of the Council held on
Wednesday 14 June 2017 at 6.00 pm at the Council Chamber, District
Offices, College Heath Road, Mildenhall IP28 7EY
Present:

Councillors
Chairman Ruth
Vice Chairman
Ruth Allen
Michael Anderson
Andrew Appleby
Chris Barker
David Bowman
Rona Burt
Louis Busuttil
Simon Cole
Roger Dicker
Andy Drummond

Bowman J.P.
Brian Harvey
Stephen Edwards
Victor Lukaniuk
Louise Marston
Colin Noble
David Palmer
Peter Ridgwell
Nigel Roman
Lance Stanbury
James Waters

229. Welcome
On opening the meeting the Chairman took the opportunity to make specific
welcome to David Collinson who had recently joined the West Suffolk Councils
as Assistant Director for Planning and Regulatory Services.

230. Minutes
The minutes of the Council meeting held on 26 April 2017 and the Annual
Council meeting held on 10 May 2017 were unanimously accepted as an
accurate record and were signed by the Chairman.

231. Chairman's Announcements (Report No: COU/FH/17/011)
The Chairman reminded Members that those engagements listed within the
itinerary up to 10 May 2017 had been undertaken by the previous Chairman,
Councillor Carol Lynch.
The Chairman also made specific reference to the funeral of District Councillor
Bill Sadler which took place on 1 June 2017 (as set out within Report No:
COU/FH/17/011). She informed the meeting that it had been incredibly well
attended with Forest Heath Councillors having formed a guard of honour
outside the church in honour of their past colleague.
The report was noted.

Page 1

COU.FH.14.06.2017

232. Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors John Bloodworth, Carol
Lynch, Christine Mason, Robin Millar and Reg Silvester.

233. Declarations of Interest
The following Councillors declared non-pecuniary interests in Agenda Item 9.
‘Community Governance Review’ (Report No: COU/FH/17/014) as Members of
the Parish/Town Councils that the report proposed Parish boundary changes
in respect of:
 Councillor Andrew Appleby (Newmarket Town Council)
 Councillor Ruth Bowman (Mildenhall Parish Council)
 Councillor Simon Cole (Exning Parish Council)
 Councillor Roger Dicker (Kentford Parish Council)
 Councillor Andy Drummond (Newmarket Town Council)
 Councillor Nigel Roman (Mildenhall Parish Council)

234. The Leader's Report (Report No: COU/FH/17/012)
The Leader presented his statement to the meeting, as set out in Report No:
COU/FH/17/012.
The report was noted.

235. Public Participation
Agenda Item 9. Community Governance Review (Report No: COU/FH/17/014)
Councillor Bill Rampling, Chairman of Moulton Parish Council, addressed the
meeting in respect of the above item and specifically Issue No. 3:
Kentford/Moulton.
He reiterated Moulton Parish Council’s response, as set out in the report, in
that the Parish Council wholeheartedly supported Option 2.
Councillor Rampling also advised the meeting that residents in the additional
residences that would be affected by the proposals in Option 3 had voiced
objection to this option; due to the historic links they had with Moulton and
their wish to remain part of this Parish (and not Kentford).
On conclusion, the Chairman thanked Councillor Rampling for his comments
and agreed to take them on board when considering the item in question,
later in the meeting.

236. Referrals Report of Recommendations from Cabinet
Referral from Extraordinary Joint Cabinet: 30 May 2017
‘A Single Council for West Suffolk – Draft Business Case’
The Chairman advised Members that they were simply asked to note this item
which was the subject of the following report on the agenda.

Page 2

COU.FH.14.06.2017

237. A Single Council for West Suffolk - Draft Business Case (Report No:
COU/FH/17/013)

Prior to considering this item, a short supplementary paper was tabled and
the Chairman allowed the meeting a few minutes in which to peruse this.
The Leader was then invited to present the report which sought consent of
the Council to jointly (with St Edmundsbury Borough Council) undertake a
public engagement exercise on the option of a single district-level council for
West Suffolk.
The Leader advised the meeting that a new single council would bring real
and lasting benefits to all residents in the area. It would give West Suffolk
greater ability to deliver services vital for communities, whilst at the same
time driving forward ambitious opportunities for the area.
The Leader spoke on increased resilience and being better placed in which to
respond to challenges as a new single council.
A number of Members spoke on this item, primarily in relation to concerns
regarding future Ward sizes and the number of Councillors who would be
representing communities.
The Leader explained that all Members would have opportunity to have input
in the process and it would be down to Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury to
shape the new council, in consultation with Parishes, community groups etc.
He advised that the figures set out in Report No: COU/FH/17/013 were purely
indicative.
A question was also raised as to whether the Mildenhall Hub would still go
ahead if a new single council was formed. The Leader assured the meeting
that the project would still progress in partnership with those agencies who
were also included within the proposed scheme.
Councillor Lance Stanbury also spoke in favour of a new single council and
made reference to the longstanding successful partnership arrangement
between Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury.
Councillor Stanbury explained that the proposal was a tremendous
opportunity which would create greater resilience and a stronger unified voice
to deliver services at a local level. And he highlighted the importance of the
role of the Future Governance Member Steering Group.
It was proposed by the Leader, seconded by Councillor David Bowman and
with 20 voting for the motion and with 1 abstention, it was
RESOLVED:
That:1. Council agreed in principle that the draft business case, attached as
Appendix A of Report No: COU/FH/17/013 and inclusive of the tabled
supplementary document, demonstrated that that a single district-level

Page 3

COU.FH.14.06.2017

council for West Suffolk represented the most effective governance
arrangements moving forward;
2. The draft business case be tested through an engagement exercise
with the public and other key stakeholders in accordance with the
approach set out in Paragraph 1.2 of Report No: COU/FH/17/013;
3. The detailed considerations required in forming a single council would
continue to be assessed by the Future Governance Member Steering
Group set up for the purpose; and
4. A further report would be presented to both Councils at their meetings
in September 2017 containing the final business case and incorporating
the outcomes of the engagement exercise.

238. Community Governance Review (Report No: COU/FH/17/014)
The Chairman advised the meeting that at the final stage of Forest Heath’s
Community Governance Review, Report No COU/FH/17/014 set out the
results of consultation on the final recommendations from the Council
meeting in February 2017.
The recommendations from the February meeting were to be tested in the
consultation, and Council was able to change them if they considered there
was sufficient evidence to do so.
The Chairman also advised that, as in February, the three ‘Issues’ would be
taken separately, as three separate debates, so that Members could take part
in each if they wished. A separate motion would need to be proposed,
seconded and voted upon for each.
The Director was then invited to introduce each item and to explain the
options open to Members to take.
Issue No. 1: Exning/Newmarket
Whether or not (and how) Exning Cemetery should be transferred from
Newmarket Parish to Exning Parish by way of a minor boundary change.
Councillor Andy Drummond moved that Option A:
Adopt the
Recommendation, be approved. This was duly seconded by Councillor Simon
Cole and with the vote being unanimous, it was
RESOLVED:
1a.

That, as set out in Appendix A to Report No: COU/FH/17/014, the final
recommendation for Issue No. 1: Exning/Newmarket be adopted as the
outcome of this CGR, and the boundary between the two parishes be
amended accordingly, as set out in the consultation map within
Appendix A.

Page 4

COU.FH.14.06.2017

Issue No. 2: Mildenhall/West Row
Whether or not (and how) the existing Parish of Mildenhall should be divided
to create two parishes, each with its own parish council: a smaller Parish of
Mildenhall and a new Parish of West Row.
Councillor Lance Stanbury spoke in relation to this Issue and questioned
whether sufficient evidence had been provided to adequately demonstrate the
need within West Row for this proposed change.
Prior to making a decision, Councillor Stanbury suggested that it might be
useful to know the definite view of Mildenhall Parish Council taking into
consideration the results of the public consultation, which the Parish would
not have known when they made their response.
To this end Councillor Stanbury proposed (new) Option C: the final decision
for Issue No 2: Mildenhall/West Row be deferred until the July 2017 meeting
of Council to allow Mildenhall Parish Council to clarify its formal response in
the light of the results of the formal consultation process. And this was duly
seconded by Councillor Louis Busuttil.
In response to questions and comments on this Issue from Members, the
Chairman clarified that the proposed deferment would be undertaken in
accordance with the existing terms of reference for the CGR.
Upon putting the motion to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it
was
RESOLVED:
1b. That, in accordance with the existing terms of reference for the review,
the final decision for Issue No 2: Mildenhall/West Row be deferred until
the July 2017 meeting of Council to allow Mildenhall Parish Council to
clarify its formal response in the light of the results of the formal
consultation process.
Issue No. 3: Kentford/Moulton
Whether or not (and how) new and existing properties to the North of
Moulton Parish should be transferred to Kentford Parish.
The Director clarified that, whilst Kentford Parish Council had expressed a
preference for Option 3, both Parish Councils were in agreement that the new
properties covered by Option 2 (the option favoured by Moulton Parish
Council) should transfer from Moulton to Kentford. In terms of the original
objectives of the CGR, this was therefore an issue on which there remained a
consensus.
Councillor Roger Dicker, as Ward Member for Kentford/Moulton, also spoke in
support of Option 2 and made reference to those residents (as per Councillor
Bill Rampling’s earlier comments in the meeting) who objected to Option 3.

Page 5

COU.FH.14.06.2017

Councillor Dicker moved that Option A: Adopt the Recommendation, be
approved. This was duly seconded by Councillor Andy Drummond and with
the vote being unanimous, it was
RESOLVED:
1c.

That, as set out in Appendix A to Report No: COU/FH/17/014, the final
recommendation for Issue No. 3: Kentford/Moulton be adopted as the
outcome of this CGR, and the boundary of Kentford Parish be extended
to included properties at or in the vicinity of the ‘Farrier’s Grange’ and
‘Lambert Grove’ developments, as set out as Option 2 in the consultation
map within Appendix A.

Attention was then drawn to Recommendations 2, 3, 4 and 5 of the report.
It was moved by Councillor David Bowman, seconded by Councillor Simon
Cole, and with the vote being unanimous, it was
RESOLVED:
That:2.

The following statutory resolutions be made in respect of this CGR:
(a)
no existing parish be abolished as part of the review;
(b)
there be no change to the name of any existing parish;
(c)
there be no change to the current arrangements which
determine whether an existing parish has a council or not i.e.:
(i) if it currently has a parish meeting it will continue to do
so; and/or
(ii) if it currently has a parish council it will continue to do so;

3.

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England be requested
to make any necessary consequential changes to district and/or county
council electoral arrangements, if applicable;

4.

The timing of the implementation of any agreed changes to parish
electoral arrangements arising from this review be dealt with as set out
in Section 1.4 of Report No COU/FH/17/014; and

5.

The decisions taken as part of this CGR be published and, in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007, and the advice of the Boundary
Commission, the necessary order(s) be made and implemented at the
appropriate time(s) before the next parish elections in 2019.

239. Response to Network Rail's Proposed Suffolk Level Crossing
Reduction Order (Report No: COU/FH/17/015)

Councillor Lance Stanbury, Cabinet Member for Planning and Growth,
presented this report which sought Council’s ratification of the letter of
objection previously sent to the Department of Transport, as contained in
Appendix B of Report No: COU/FH/17/015, making an objection to Network

Page 6

COU.FH.14.06.2017

Rail’s proposed closure of the stop, look and listen at grade pedestrian
crossing at Weatherby, Newmarket.
On the motion of the Cabinet Member, seconded by Councillor Andy
Drummond, and with the vote being unanimous, it was
RESOLVED:
That the Council ratified the letter of objection previously sent to the
Department of Transport dated 4 May 2017, as contained in Appendix B of
Report No: COU/FH/17/015, therefore making a valid objection to Network
Rail’s proposed Transport and Works Act 1992 (Suffolk Level Crossing
Reduction) Order.

240. Representation on Suffolk County Council's Health Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

The Council was asked to nominate one Member and one substitute Member
to serve on the County’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
Councillor Simon Cole advised that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
had, at their meeting on 6 June 2017, nominated Councillor John Bloodworth
as the full Member and Councillor Christine Mason as the substitute Member
for 2017/2018.
Councillor Cole then formally moved the recommendation of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, this was duly seconded by Councillor Rona Burt and
with the vote being unanimous, it was
RESOLVED:
That Councillor John Bloodworth be nominated as the District Council’s
representative and Councillor Christine Mason as the nominated substitute
Member on the Suffolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee for
2017/2018.

241. Appointment of Independent Persons (Report No: COU/FH/17/016)
Councillor David Bowman, Chairman of the West Suffolk Joint Standards
Committee presented this report which sought Council approval to appoint
the Independent Persons for West Suffolk, to operate until 1 July 2017.
Councillor Bowman explained that Mr Arnold Barrow had been operating as
one of the West Suffolk Independent Persons since 2014 and it was proposed
to reappoint him for a further term.
The other Independent Person who was appointed in 2014 alongside Mr
Barrow no longer wished to continue in the role. Hence, a recruitment
process had been undertaken, as a result of which Mrs Zoe Finn was
recommended for appointment.
On the motion of Councillor Bowman, seconded by Councillor Nigel Roman
and with 19 voting for the motion and with 2 abstentions, it was

Page 7

COU.FH.14.06.2017

RESOLVED:
That:1. Mr Arnold Barrow be reappointed as an Independent Person until 1 July
2019; and
2. Mrs Zoe Finn be appointed as an Independent Person until 1 July 2019.

242. Questions to Chairmen of other Committees
There were no questions to Chairmen of other Committees.

243. Urgent Questions on Notice
There were no urgent questions on notice.
The meeting concluded at 6.58 pm
Signed by:

Chairman

Page 8

COU.FH.14.06.2017

Agenda Item 2

Council
Title of Report:

Chairman's Announcements and Itinerary

Report No:

COU/FH/17/017

Report to and date:

Council

26 July 2017

Chairman of the Council’s Itinerary for June 2017 (part) to July 2017 (part)
Wednesday

14 June

Forest Heath Council
Council Chamber, District Offices, College Heath
Road, Mildenhall

Wednesday

21 June

Marking the inaugural “Suffolk Day”
Ipswich Town Hall

Friday

23 June

USAFE Summer Reception
Middleton Hall, RAF Mildenhall

Monday

26 June

Mildenhall Sea Cadets Award Night
Recreation Way, Mildenhall

Friday

30 June

West Suffolk College Celebration of Achievement Gala
Dinner
Gateway Building, West Suffolk College

Wednesday

5 July

Half Moon Pub re-opening following renovation
Half Moon Pub, 103 Kingsway Mildenhall

Friday

7 July

Mildenhall and District Twinning Association Garden
Party
53 Folly Road, Mildenhall

Saturday

8 July

Newmarket Carnival
Tattersalls, Newmarket

Tuesday

11 July

Co-host British Anglo Committee Local Residents
Visitors Day
RAF Mildenhall

Friday

21 July

RAF Mildenhall Change of Command Ceremony
Middleton Hall, RAF Mildenhall

Page 9

Vice Chairman Itinerary for June 2017 (part) to July 2017 (part)
Wednesday

14 June

Forest Heath Council
Council Chamber, District Offices, College Heath
Road, Mildenhall

Wednesday

21 June

Marking the inaugural “Suffolk Day”
Ipswich Town Hall

Leader of the Council’s Itinerary for June 2017 (part) to July 2017 (part)
Wednesday

14 June

Forest Heath Council
Council Chamber, District Offices, College Heath Road,
Mildenhall

Thursday

15 June

Meeting with Boundary Commission and Chief Executive
West Suffolk House, Bury St Edmunds

Monday

26 June

RIS2/A11 meeting
Council Chamber, District Offices, College Heath Road,
Mildenhall

TuesdayThursday

4 – 6 July

LGA Conference
Birmingham International Convention Centre

Tuesday

11 July

Joint Cabinet Planning meeting
Forest Heath District Council, Mildenhall

Wednesday

12 July

Meeting with Matthew Hancock MP, James Palmer, John
Griffiths and Chief Executive
Portcullis House, London

Friday

14 July

Suffolk Public Sector Leaders’ meeting
East Suffolk House, Melton, Suffolk

Tuesday

18 July

GCGP LEP visit to Alconbury Weald EZ and GCGP Board
meeting
Alconbury

Deputy Leader of the Council’s Itinerary for June 2017 to July 2017 (part)
(Annual leave 8th – 24 June)
Friday

30 June

Deputy Leader briefing – Homelessness
West Suffolk House

TuesdayThursday

4 -6 July

LGA Conference
Birmingham International Convention Centre

Page 10

Agenda Item 5

Council
Title of Report:

Leader’s Statement

Report No:

COU/FH/17/018

Report to and date:

Council

26 July 2017

Annual Report
There have been some great achievements by Forest Heath District Council in the past
year. It is easy, when we are all so busy working for our communities, to lose sight of
work and projects that Forest Heath has been carrying out. So it is fantastic to see
some
of
our
success
stories
captured
in
the
annual
report
(www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/council/achievements/index.cfm ) which I hope you will take
the time to read if you haven’t already. I won’t highlight any individual stories, they
are all worthy and part of our work towards promoting economic growth, housing so
that people can remain in the areas where they grew up or work, and of course our
great work through our families and communities strategy, working with charities,
voluntary organisations and local groups to create closer community ties and close the
gap between generations to tackle all forms of isolation and support families and
individuals within that.
Single Council
That leads me briefly into our public engagement over becoming a single council for
West Suffolk. Through a single council will we be able to truly focus and help our
communities with some of the biggest challenges that they face now and over the
next decade, challenges over health, housing, infrastructure, skills and education. A
single council, will give us a strong voice, championing local causes whilst remaining
small enough and amongst our residents and businesses to identify and support local
initiatives that will meet their needs.
It’s no secret that I believe passionately that a single council is not only the right thing
for us to do for our communities, but it is important that we hear from them. We have
the next month to continue to engage our local residents, businesses and groups so
that they can help shape the future of west Suffolk before bringing this back for a full
debate in September – http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/singlecouncil

Page 11

Mildenhall Hub
Whether or not a single council happens, we will continue to need a replacement
school and leisure centre in Mildenhall, and of course a place for Councillors to hold
their meetings. The Mildenhall Hub can bring all these things together on one site
with a health centre, library, job centre, Citizen’s Advice Bureau, council services, preschool facilities and the police. The decision by the fire and rescue service to withdraw
does not affect the viability of the scheme. The planning application has been out to
initial public consultation and we await the next steps.
A11/Fiveways
On a related matter I can report that I chaired a positive meeting with regard to
Highways England’s short term solutions to improve the A11 Fiveways through
signalling and speed reduction measures. As you will no doubt be aware, the longer
term solution to safety and congestion issues at this roundabout would be to build a
bypass or flyover. This is not a case of either or and we will continue to push for both
of these solutions and I will keep you updated.
Electric vehicle charging/going green
On the subject of travel, we together with St Edmundsbury, have recently installed
Electric Vehicle charge points at The Guineas car park in Newmarket, as well as in
Bury St Edmunds and Haverhill. You will be aware that there has been lots in the news
recently about a push for these types of vehicles to replace petrol and diesel models.
This small step helps promote that choice and makes it easier for people to opt for an
Electric Vehicle, knowing that they can recharge it on average in 3-4 hours while
visiting Newmarket town centre. Obviously we will monitor their use and if demand
increases we can look at investing more in these charge points accordingly. I should
also mention that we also offer a grant to businesses looking to install their own
charge points.
Keeping with the green theme, we have installed a biomass boiler at the National
Heritage Centre for Horseracing and Sporting Art. This reduces carbon emissions, is
therefore better for the environment and better for Newmarket and part of our wider
work with businesses and community organisations across West Suffolk, helping them
become more energy efficient and save on energy costs.
Congratulations
I would also like to take a moment to congratulate staff at the National Heritage
Centre for Horseracing and Sporting Art. This major visitor attraction, which opened
late last year, celebrates Newmarket’s heritage and forms part of our wider strategy
to boost footfall and spending in Newmarket town centre. Yes they were pipped at the
post for the Museum of the Year award, but to be shortlisted and in the running for
such a prestigious title less than a year after opening takes some doing and deserves
recognition.
Welcome
Finally, I would like to formally welcome Councillor Simon Cole to the Conservative
Group. He has always given strong but considered opinions during his time as leader

Page 12

of the West Suffolk Independents and I look forward to him continuing to give his
invaluable insight as part of the Conservative Group.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Council
Title of Report:

Report No:
Report to and date:

Referrals Report of
Recommendations from
Cabinet
COU/FH/17/019
Council

Documents attached:

26 July 2017

None

(A)

Referral from Cabinet: 20 June 2017

1.

Mildenhall Hub – Investing in Renewable Energy Technologies
Portfolio Holder: Councillor James Waters

Report No:
CAB/FH/17/030

1.1

There is no direct referral emanating from the Cabinet meeting in relation
to this item. ‘Mildenhall Hub – Business Case for Investing in Renewable
Energy Technologies’ is contained within the separate Report No:
COU/FH/17/021 at Agenda Item 9. on this Council agenda.

2.

West Suffolk Joint Pay Policy Statement 2017/2018
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Stephen Edwards

Report No:
CAB/FH/17/034 &
Appendix 1
(amended)

RECOMMENDED:
That the West Suffolk Joint Pay Policy Statement for
2017/2018, as contained in Appendix 1 (as amended) to
Report No: CAB/FH/17/034, be approved.
2.1

Section 38/11 of the Localism Act requires local authorities to provide a
Pay Policy Statement annually. A joint Pay Policy Statement for
2016/2017, attached as Appendix 1 to Report No: CAB/FH/17/034, has
been produced for St Edmundsbury Borough and Forest Heath District
Councils, which reflects the shared workforce and the single Pay and
Reward Strategy in place for the two West Suffolk councils. The
Statement also incorporates the outcomes of the 2013 collective

Page 15

agreement which established a modern reward framework for the
integrated workforce.
2.2

The Cabinet were provided with an amended version of Appendix 1, as the
version circulated with the agenda papers had contained some
typographical errors.

Page 16

Agenda Item 8

Council
Title of Report:

Report No:

Community Governance
Review
COU/FH/17/020

Report to and
date/s:

Council

Portfolio holder:

Not applicable – electoral matters are not an executive
function
Fiona Osman, Elections Manager
Tel: 01284 757105
Email: fiona.osman@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Alex Wilson, Director
Tel: 01284 757695
Email: alex.wilson@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Purpose of report:

To allow Council to make a final decision on Issue 2 in
the Community Governance Review for Forest Heath,
namely the proposal to create a new parish council for
West Row and Isleham Marina.

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Council considers the
evidence received during consultation on the
Community Governance Review (CGR) so that it
can make the final decision required in respect of
the recommendation for issue 2 (as set out in this
report and Appendix A).

Key Decision:

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which definition?
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☐
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

(Check the appropriate
box and delete all those
that do not apply.)

Consultation:

Consultation has taken place on the terms of reference
and final recommendations for the review and the
results are summarised in this report.

Page 17

Alternative
option(s):





The Council has already agreed to carry out the
review. Not carrying out a CGR at this time would
mean that changes desired to parish arrangements
will not be taken into account in a forthcoming
electoral review of the district and may be difficult to
implement before the 2019 parish elections.
At this stage of the process, the Council is able to
change its recommendations based on evidence
received through consultation.

Implications:
Are there any new financial
implications? If yes, please give details
Are there any new staffing
implications? If yes, please give details
Are there any ICT implications? If yes,
please give details
Are there any legal and/or policy
implications? If yes, please give details
Are there any equality implications? If
yes, please give details

Yes ☐

No ☒

Yes ☐

No ☒

Yes ☐

No ☒

Yes ☒ No ☐
 Council is following the statutory
process.
Yes ☒ No ☐
 The Council has a legal duty to
ensure that its recommendations
do not undermine community
cohesion, and ensure effective
local government for all electors
in a parish.

Risk/opportunity assessment:
Risk area

Inherent level of
risk (before controls)

Controls

Residual
risk (after
controls)

Matters which local
communities want included in
the CGR are missed
Final decisions do not reflect
community views
Consequential impacts on
district wards and county
divisions
Review is not completed in 12
months

Medium

Consult on terms of
reference prior to
adoption
Consult on
recommendations
Feed changes into
electoral reviews by
the LGBCE
Timetable review
phases in terms of
reference

Low

Ward(s) affected:
Background papers:
(all background papers
are to be published on
the website and a link
included)

Eriswell and the Rows, Great Heath and Market.
 Council paper, COU/FH/17/014, 14 June 2017
 Council paper COU/FH/17/006, 22 February
2017
 Council paper COU/FH/16/025, 22 November
2016
 LGBCE National Guidance:
http://www.lgbce.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/
0019/10387/community-governance-reviewguidance.pdf
 Appendix A – 2017 results of consultation for
CGR

Documents attached:

Medium
Medium
Low

Page 18

Low
Low
Low

1.

Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s)

1.1

Background

1.1.1

At Council in June 2017, members received a report on the outcome of the
recent consultation on the Community Governance Review (CGR). The terms
of reference for the review allowed a decision to be made at that or this
meeting.

1.1.2

In relation to issue 2 in the review, relating to a proposal from the West Row
Action Group to create a new parish council for West Row and Isleham
Marina, the Council had originally recommended in February 2017 no change
to the current arrangements for the purposes of consultation, on the basis
that it would need to receive evidence of local support for such a significant
step. Consultation ran from March to May 2017.

1.1.3

For ease of reference the initial results of consultation for issue 2 (as at June
2017) are attached as Appendix A to this report. As a summary, opinion on
issue 2 was divided, albeit 92% of the 39 electors who responded to the
consultation opposed the recommendation, and wished to see it changed so
that a new parish council is formed. The Council therefore had to decide if it
now has enough evidence, in relation to the criteria for CGRs and local
opinion, to justify a change to the current parish boundary and to create a
new parish council.

1.1.4

At the June meeting, there was initial discussion of the outcome of the
consultation. It was noted that, without a specific decision to that effect,
Forest Heath would not be reopening its own consultation, as the existing
terms of reference for the review do not provide for this to happen, and the
consultation period was over two months. However, councillors noted that the
Mildenhall Parish Council (MPC) response (which was to respect the majority
wishes of residents) was written before it had had sight of the consultation
responses itself.

1.1.5

Therefore, since the terms of reference allowed for a final decision to be made
by Council in either June or July, members felt it wise to defer this for a few
weeks to give MPC the chance to clarify its formal response to the CGR in the
light of the results of the formal consultation process. The West Row Action
Group was also notified of the deferred decision, as were those who had
responded to the consultation (and had asked to be kept informed).

1.2

View of Mildenhall Parish Council

1.2.1

The Mildenhall Parish Council reconsidered the matter at a recent meeting and
concluded that it did not wish to change its original response to the
consultation, namely:

Page 19

1.3

Supplementary local evidence

1.3.1

On 23 June 2017, the Council received anonymously by hand delivery at its
offices the following original documentation:


181 signatures from West Row and Isleham Marina residents on various
petitions calling for a new parish council for West Row, Isleham Marina and
Thistley Green (or for a CGR to create one). These are not dated but are
understood to have been collected in 2015 by members of the Action
Group.



53 response slips or letters relating to a public consultation in 2015, from
residents of West Row and Isleham Marina, agreeing with the setting up of
a new parish council. The Council does not have sight of the supporting
information for the consultation. A couple of the responses are in
agreement “in principle” or “with reservations”, and two raise a number of
practical considerations around precept and level of services. However,
nearly all most are simply “agree” responses without supporting
comments.



One response to the same 2015 consultation disagreeing with the need for
a parish council.

1.3.2

The Action Group has subsequently explained to officers that the context of
these petitions/consultations in 2015 was to gather enough local support to
trigger a CGR under the relevant legislation (hence the number of signatures
collected).

1.3.3

While the subject of these consultations is the same as this Council’s own on
the CGR (and some weight could be given on that basis), they took place
before spring 2017, in a different context and with different background
information available to respondents. Therefore there is no certainty that all
of the respondents who are still local residents still hold the same view as in
2015 (albeit that some have also taken part in the Council’s own consultation
recently).

1.3.4

Nonetheless, taken at face value, this is very useful background information
to support the responses which objected to the Council’s 2017
recommendation (i.e. 36 local residents, the Action Group and Baptist Church,
as set out in Appendix A). The new information shows that, as recently as

Page 20

2015, there has been a significant body of opinion in the West Row parish
ward of MPC in favour of a new parish council being set up; 234 respondents
represents around 20% of the current electorate for West Row parish ward.
1.4.

Decision on Issue 2

1.4.1

Members are now asked to consider the original and supporting evidence
received in relation to Issue 2, and reach a final decision.

1.4.2

A CGR should create the conditions to:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

improve community engagement;
provide for more cohesive communities;
provide better local democracy; and
result in more effective and convenient delivery of local services.

1.4.3

The Council must also take into account local opinion received through
consultation. However, the aim of the consultation was not to conduct a
formal referendum, but simply to give people the chance to comment on the
recommendations and help shape the Council’s final decision. Ultimately,
where opinion is divided, the Council will need to make a balanced
judgement, with each case taken on its own individual merits.

1.4.4

Having said that, if the Council has no good evidence that a change is justified
(either in terms of the CGR guidance and/or the level of local support) it
would normally presume to maintain the status quo.

1.4.5

Unless it wishes to revise the existing terms of reference for this CGR, the
Council must therefore now make one of the following two decisions (set out
in no order of importance here):
A: Adopt Recommendation (status quo)
That the final recommendation for Issue 2 (Mildenhall and West Row)
be adopted as the outcome of this CGR, namely that there be no
change to the current arrangements i.e. Mildenhall Parish stays as it is
and a new parish for West Row is not created.
Or
B: Amend the Recommendation (create new parish council)
That, on the basis that [insert reason for changing recommendation], a
new parish of West Row be created in 2019 from the existing West Row
parish ward of Mildenhall Parish, with the same boundary, and the
Parish be served by a Parish Council with nine councillors and no
wards1.
The other procedural requirements required to implement this CGR were
approved by Council in June 2017 and do not need to be updated at this
meeting as they apply to the whole CGR, including issue 2. However, if the
Council decides to create a new parish council, future reports to Cabinet

1

These were the electoral arrangements, etc suggested in the Council’s consultation and no
comments were received disagreeing with them.

Page 21

and/or Council will be needed to explain the transitional process to be
followed, and the formal steps that will need to be taken by Forest Heath to
support the change in 2018/19.

Page 22

Appendix A
No

Area or Properties
Under Review

2

Mildenhall Parish

Parishes
Directly
Affected
Mildenhall

Matter covered by final
recommendation
Whether or not (and how) the
existing Parish of Mildenhall
should be divided to create two
parishes, each with its own
parish council: a smaller Parish of
Mildenhall and a new Parish of
West Row.

Final Recommendation for Consultation
That there be no change to the current arrangements i.e. Mildenhall
Parish stays as it is and a new parish for West Row is not created.
Background Information for Recommendation
The proposal to include this matter in the CGR was made by the West Row
Action Group which felt that West Row should have its own parish council in
order to provide it with its own representation and to reflect its separate
community identity.
The reason for the CGR recommendation above is that the District Council felt
that, given the significance of the change involved for all electors of Mildenhall
Parish, it needed evidence of widespread local support to justify creating a new
parish for West Row. Therefore, it agreed that it should be the ‘status quo’
position that is tested in the final stage of the review.
However, in consulting on such a final recommendation, the Council made it
clear to respondents what the alternative option and implications would be,
since the Council can change its recommendation in the light of evidence
received i.e. if support is expressed for a separate parish.
The District Council’s final recommendation for consultation would see West Row
village and surrounding area (including Isleham Marina) remain within the
existing Mildenhall Parish, and continue to be served by Mildenhall Parish
Council. The area would continue to have its own West Row Ward within the
Parish, with its own parish councillors. More information on the Parish Council
can be found at: http://mildenhall.onesuffolk.net/ .
The alternative option, as suggested by the Action Group, would be to create an
entirely new and separate Parish for the West Row area, served by its own
parish council. This would reduce the area of the current Mildenhall Parish, and
therefore the proposal affects all electors in it.
Electorate Information
If a West Row Parish were to be created, its electorate would depend on its
agreed boundaries (see next section). Furthermore, producing a five year
electorate forecast ahead of adoption of a new Local Plan is not easy and any
estimate must therefore be treated with caution ahead of determination of the
relevant planning processes. Nonetheless, to assist respondents, and as
guidance only, an indicative five year estimate of the electorate of the existing

Page 23

Parish of Mildenhall1 would be:
Mildenhall Parish Ward(s)
Great Heath and Market
West Row

Electorate forecast for 2022
6240
1502

Alternative Option
If the recommendation is changed, and a new parish council is formed, then the
District Council will need to determine:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

the name of the new parish council;
the new parish boundary;
the number of councillors;
whether the new parish will be warded; and
an implementation date and election timetable thereafter (see covering
report).

The minimum size of any new parish council for West Row would be 5
councillors, but 9 councillors would be consistent with several other large
parishes in the District e.g. Exning with 1554 electors. By comparison,
Mildenhall Parish Council currently comprises 15 councillors to represent the
three wards of the Parish (and just under 7000 electors). Three of these parish
councillors represent the West Row Ward (with the other two wards having six
councillors each).
The boundary of any new parish would need to reflect a common community
identity and support convenient and effective local government. Boundaries
should also, where possible, be linked to recognisable ground features,
particularly those which form natural boundaries themselves. The simplest way
to create a new West Row Parish would be to use the three existing Mildenhall
parish wards as ‘building blocks’. This is because these are well-established and
understood. This also avoids consequential changes to existing district or
county arrangements. On this basis, a new West Row Parish could be formed
entirely from the current West Row Ward of Mildenhall Parish. This would mean
that any new parish councillors for West Row represented exactly the same area
as the three existing Mildenhall parish councillors from the West Row Ward.
Summary of Consultation
As set out in detail in the next section, opinion remains divided, albeit a large
majority of the electors who responded to the consultation opposed the
recommendation, and wished to see it changed so that a new parish council is
formed. The Council must therefore decide if it now has enough evidence, in
relation to the criteria for CGRs and local opinion, to justify a change to the
current parish boundary.
No comments have been received to disagree with the suggestion (in the
1

This estimate reflects the current assessment of the five year supply of housing land in Forest
Heath which was published in November 2016 and is available on the Council’s website as part of
the background papers for the Local Plan consultation. This indicative estimate also reflects the
current impact of USVF residents on the electoral registers for Mildenhall Parish. The estimate is
therefore subject to the completion of the relevant planning processes and future changes at both
airbases.

Page 24

background information for the consultation pack) that any new parish could be
coterminous with Mildenhall Parish Council’s existing West Row Ward, with 9
councillors.
Responses During Consultation
As well as correspondence to elected representatives, community organisations
and other stakeholders in the Parish, this issue was publicised by the Council on
its website, through social media and via a press release. The Council also
created an online response form which explained the two options available, with
background information for each. Local publicity was also provided by those
advocating the change.
In this context, responses received were as follows.
A. Mildenhall Parish Council
The formal response of the Parish Council is as follows:

The Parish Council has subsequently clarified, in light of the above, that it looks
after the majority of street lights in West Row (with the County Council
maintaining the rest), and pointed out that its role on planning applications is
advisory to the district council, as a consultee, not the decision-taker. The
cemetery is addressed in other consultation responses received, summarised
below.
In addition to the Parish Council’s formal response, a personal letter has been
received from one of the existing parish councillors, which is included in section
E below, as per the reporting protocol.
B. West Row Action Group
The submission of the Group is as follows:

Page 25

Page 26

Page 27

Page 28

Page 29

Page 30

Page 31

C. Local Electors
By the close of consultation, 39 individual local residents had submitted
comments. This represents around 3% of the current electorate of the West
Row parish ward of Mildenhall Parish. The proposal affects the whole Parish,
and its current electorate is just under 7000 electors.

Page 32

Most respondents identified themselves as local residents or ‘villagers’ and four
also indicated that, as well as being residents, they were members of West Row
Action Group (3) or West Row Football Club (1).
Five respondents submitted more than one online response form. Where this
occurred, they are counted only once in the statistics, and their recorded
preference (if it differed) is taken to be the last one submitted before the
deadline. However, all text comments made during the consultation are
recorded below for completeness.
The map at the end of this report shows how comments were distributed evenly
in West Row when plotted by post-code (please note that the dots on the map
indicate the centre of a post-code, not a specific property).
36 (92.3%) of the respondents did not support the recommendation and
wanted a parish council to be established. This represents the opinion of
around 3% of the current electorate of West Row parish ward. Where provided,
the comments of those against the recommendation were as follows (verbatim):
We desperately need to be represented with our own Parish Council to make
our voice heard & help to secure growth in our village amongst other issues.
It betrays democracy and self-determination of the people within their own
village. Smaller councils exist and therefore should be their own elected
chamber with tax raising powers to meet the needs of its facilities. I also
want Mildenhall to have Independence with a Mayor. But a mayor with no
political affiliation but truly representative of Mildenhall as social inclusion
has been destroyed by the wealth of political groups and evidence is
supported by county election turnout in 2017. Time to bring changes to
promote democracy for all villages and not a political agenda that parishes
have become by the failings to include non-party members as chair or
committee chairs.
West Row deserves a voice of its own.
Wording of the recommendation is a bit misleading I nearly voted against
WR becoming its own Parish Council Would suggest that the votes are
checked against the narrative*. I think we in WR can and deserve to be
independent - we are thriving and active.
(*FHDC response: This check has been carried out as a matter of
course because the legislation requires consultation to be framed
around a definite recommendation. For reference, the two choices
offered online were:
 I support this recommendation - West Row should continue to be
represented by Mildenhall Parish Council
 I do not support this recommendation - West Row should have its
own parish/parish council)
It is not in the best interests of residents.
I am 80 years old and feel that it is high time West Row was allowed to

Page 33

make her own decisions.
We as a village do not have independence to the larger town of Mildenhall,
therefore we as a village aren't not receiving an independent consideration
over the town. I have been a resident of this village 36 years of my 42
living years. We do not have a funded playground area as in Mildenhall.
Services are not stretched to our village with due consideration that it
needs. The recent social media public mocking made by members of our
local council towards other pro-active West Row potential councillors also
promotes the view that West Row is a village mocked by the whole of the
Mildenhall Parish/Forest Heath District Council. I'm aware I do not fully
understand the control nor the powers that be within our Parish/council and
whose roles are responsible for appointed services within our community.
The fact that the recommendation is already to NOT recommend West Row
to have its own Parish, given by this notice, highlights to me the allocation
of giving West Row its own Parish shows there is a concern within the
Mildenhall Parish that there will be monies lost to themselves to be allocated
to West Row as its own Parish. Seeing the published figures of allocation of
monies...this will result in Mildenhall Parish losing significant funding.
Funding I believe a separate Parish of West Row would allocate more
productively and effectively to its OWN village. Over time, using the monies
more wisely, and in benefit to West Row directly will show our residents the
village is for them.
West Row is West Row. It is not Mildenhall and does not need to be
represented by that group. Especially when their decisions do not always
reflect the thoughts of those living here in the village. Let us govern
ourselves.
I do not believe that the Mildenhall Parish, as is, fairly represents issues
within West Row due to the heavy bias of councillors in the Mildenhall area.
The expense of the central employees is way beyond what a noraml village
council would be expected to underwrite. With any new initiatives, eg LED
street lighting, Mildenhall always comes first it seems. We never have a
breakdown of receipts and expenditure based on the areas of Mildenhall and
West Row. This level of clarity would aid this decision.
I believe West Row has grown over the years into a thriving community,
that needs to have its own specific representation not lumped into
Mildenhall, I have been a resident for over 40 years and have seen how my
village has changed, and I think we should be able to have our own
individual say in local matters.
West Row needs its own, local, representation, and a Parish Precept based
on taking care of West row, not Mildenhall's, needs. It is obvious that, with
small number of residents in West Row, their needs and wishes will be
subservient to those of the greater populace of Mildenhall. Also, the Parish
Precept paid by residents of West Row should be the far smaller amount
actually needed for West Row, not for the more expensive upkeep of
Mildenhall.
I fully support West Row having its own parish council. We are a proactive,

Page 34

progressive village who need councillors who understand the issues faced by
the village. At the moment our representatives are outnumbered and as
such we have no voice on Mildenhall parish council.
As a growing community I and many people I speak to think its time like
many villages to have our own parishes so that we can have more say in the
future of our lovely village. And with so many organisations in our village
we help to make them grow with our own funds e.g. allotments. Mildenhall
takes 4, 000 pounds a year or more and not a penny spent on
improvements.
I believe the interests of our village would be better met by people who are
interested in the maintenance and improvement of our rural way of life. I
believe the growth of the village is better served by those who live here and
understand it. I do not feel representatives at local government level have
viewed the village as a lone entity but always as a suburb of Mildenhall. We
do not feel this way. Those who have ably supported our views on the
parish council are often undermined and looked down upon by those who do
not or no longer live here yet serve ours and Mildenhall's interests.
In view of the fact that West Row is a substantial rural community with both
village and fen dwellings, shops, a church ,chapels and village and church
halls. It is not practical for us to be a ward of what is an urban town council.
There is very little that we have in common with Mildenhall and our interests
often conflict. Only being able to send three councillors to a much larger
council at Mildenhall means that our community is constantly out voted. In
order for our community to thrive and have a sense of its own identity and
for the practical reason that a council needs to be in its own community
things cannot remain as they are.
West Row only has three Parish Councillors as against seven for Mildenhall
and are therefore consistently out voted by Mildenhall. West Row is a
happy, settled and picturesque community which is constantly dictated to by
the urban requirements of the larger town of Mildenhall and eventually by
Bury St Edmunds if the latest proposals for BSE to take over full control of
Forest Heath District Council goes ahead. West Suffolk Council are already
dictating planning requirements on West Row that are for city developments
not suited to village life so if the takeover goes ahead West Row "Village"
will eventually disappear completely. So the only way we can preserve our
village identity and way of life is to have our own Parish Council that will
make decision in the best interests of West Row.
West Row has an active community, one which warrants being able to prove
its importance and independence from Mildenhall, much like many other
small villages around this town. There are active groups, organisations and
people all willing to prove that this community can be responsible for certain
local government issues itself.
West Row is a growing vibrant community village in and of itself. It is logical
that it should have the ability to directly answer for and be responsible for
aspects directly relating to its existence.

Page 35

West Row Action Group are committed to ensuring the nature of our village
is not dominated by large housing development and the input as a 'Stand
Alone' Parish Council is vital as part of this process.
I no longer feel my views are best supported by those representatives on
Mildenhall parish council. I also feel as a village we can self-govern our own
issues and parish needs. As a unique rural village with an extensive history
and thriving community, I feel our interests are often viewed as Mildenhall
interests, and not those of a village with little interest in joining together as
a suburb of the town that governs us.
West Row village has a long history with her residents playing a strong part
in all local happenings. The best people to make decisions on behalf of the
villagers are the villagers themselves. It is not through a hatred of the town
parish council that I make this objection but through a wish for the
residents of West Row to be able to stand alone and make their own
decisions about issues that relate to the village. You state* that we do not
have the experience to be able to run our own council but the same can be
said of a country which hasn't stood alone since the early 70s but that
hasn't stopped the voice of the people being heard. There are enough
people in West Row with the skills needed for us to follow the example of
Beck Row and build a successful council.
(*FHDC response: this was not stated by FHDC in any of its review
materials; FHDC’s only position has been to seek evidence of public
support for or against the recommendation and provide supporting
background information to assist consultees.)
Three (7.7%) of the respondents supported the recommendation (i.e. not
creating a new parish council). One made the following comment:
It adds an unnecessary local authority and will not give local people any
more say on things like planning, which is what WRAG is really concerned
about.

D. Local Organisations
The Council wrote to the local churches, school and other organisations as part
of the consultation, and received the following response from the West Row
Baptist Church:
“Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the proposal to create a
new local government Parish for West Row.
On behalf of West Row Baptist Church (Chapel), I would like to say that
the proposal to create a separate Parish for West Row would be very
welcome indeed and we would like to vote for it.
You may or may not know, the Baptist Church is a Christian,
Independent, Baptist denomination, Church. It is run solely by the active
Church Members and has no interference from any overarching body. We

Page 36

are affiliated to the FIEC (Fellowship of Independent Evangelical
Churches) but they are there purely to give advice when requested.
We are pleased to say that our Church has a thriving congregation and
Membership with an average weekly attendance (including mid-week
clubs etc) of over 200 persons.
As the vast majority of those attending use a car, the number of cars
using the Church parking area is around 20 plus for each weekday
meeting and 35 plus for each Sunday service.
In 2000, the church gave notice to Forest Heath District Council and the
Mildenhall Parish Council, that the existing graveyard would be closed
when it reaches a certain marker. That marker has now been reached and
the graveyard is now closed to all new graves. The reason for closing the
graveyard was twofold:
1) to ensure there was sufficient space left to accommodate all the
cars of those visiting the premises.
2) to ensure there remained sufficient space to accommodate
tents, bouncy castles, Bar-B-Q and serving areas etc during village
outreach days for families and young people.
We have asked on more than one occasion if Mildenhall Parish could
provide a separate burial ground in West Row, all to no avail as their
stock answer is: “We have a burial ground in Mildenhall”.
If West Row had its own Local Government Parish, at least the members
of the West Row Parish could decide if a separate community graveyard
should be provided.”

E. Local elected representatives
The following letter has been received from an existing Mildenhall parish
councillor:

In addition, the online response form was completed by a Lakenheath Parish
Councillor, who opposed the recommendation, commenting:

Page 37

“As a strong believer in localism and the devolution of political power I
think if enough people in West Row want to have their own council they
should be allowed to have one.”
A response was also received from a Forest Heath District Councillor
(representing a ward not affected by the proposal) supporting the
recommendation and commenting:
“There is a lack of a clear vision or reason for creating a new parish for
West Row, that cannot be fulfilled under the present arrangement.”
Options for Councillors to Consider
To assist in the conduct of the meeting, draft motions for the various options
are set out below, in no order of importance/preference:
A: Adopt Recommendation (status quo)

Or

That the final recommendation for Issue 2 (Mildenhall and West Row) be
adopted as the outcome of this CGR, namely that there be no change to
the current arrangements i.e. Mildenhall Parish stays as it is and a new
parish for West Row is not created.
.

B: Amend the Recommendation (create new parish council)
That, on the basis that [insert reason for changing recommendation], a
new parish of West Row be created from the existing West Row parish
ward of Mildenhall Parish, with the same boundary, and the Parish be
served by a Parish Council with nine councillors and no wards.

Page 38

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Council
Title of Report:

Report No:

Mildenhall Hub – Business
Case for Investing in
Renewable Energy
Technologies
COU/FH/17/021
Council

26 July 2017

Portfolio holder:

Councillor James Waters
Leader
Tel: 07771 621038
Email: james.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Peter Gudde
Service Manager – Environmental Health
Tel: 01284 757042
Email: peter.gudde@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report:

To finalise the business case for the Mildenhall Hub in
relation to investing in renewable energy technologies
should planning consent be granted, following earlier
consideration of the principles by Overview & Scrutiny
Committee and Cabinet in June 2017

Recommendation:

It is recommended that:
1) The business case for an investment of up to
£2m in renewable energy provision in the
Mildenhall Hub be approved;
2) The funding model, with estimated project
budget and cash flow, set out in this report
and its Appendix 3, be agreed;
3) Further detailed assessment and procurement
of the renewable energy provision on the
basis of this report; and
4) The Council’s Section 151 Officer make the
necessary changes to the Council’s prudential
indicators as a result of Recommendation 1.

Page1 41

Consultation:

The development of the Hub project has been
based on public, partner and stakeholder
consultation. The scheme is currently the
subject of public consultation in respect of its
planning application.
Councillors have been extensively involved in
the decision-making process for the Hub (see
background papers below). The Overview and
Scrutiny Committee received updates on the
main business case in February 2017 and on
the business case for renewable energy in
June 2017.
Cabinet approved the outline business case
for renewable energy investment in June
2017.

Alternative option(s):

(Subject to the Hub proceeding) to install
conventional mechanical and engineering
solutions to heat and power the new building.
The business case will offer this option as the
‘base case’.
An enhancement to the option may allow heat
to be exported to the existing Mildenhall
College Academy Sixth Form Building. This
will be subject to a separate report.

Implications of this report:
Are there any financial implications? If
yes, please give details

Please note: this is not a risk
assessment for the Hub project as a
whole, but for the subject matter of
this report only i.e. funding of
renewable technologies.

Yes ☒ No ☐
Financial implications of investing in
renewable energy for the hub
project are outlined in report.
Yes ☐ No ☒
Covered in wider project planning.
Yes ☐ No ☒
Covered in wider project planning.
Yes ☒ No ☐
As outlined in report.
Yes ☐ No ☒
Covered in wider project planning.
Specific project risks which have
been identified at this stage are set
out in Appendix 1. These will be
fully assessed as part of the next
phase of the Royal Institute of
British Architects (RIBA) Stage 4
design.

Ward(s) affected:

All Wards

Are there any staffing implications? If
yes, please give details
Are there any ICT implications? If yes,
please give details
Are there any legal and/or policy
implications? If yes, please give details
Are there any equality implications? If
yes, please give details
Risk/opportunity assessment:

2
Page 42

Background papers:
(all background papers are to be
published on the website and a link
included)





Documents attached:

Council Report February 2017 Mildenhall Hub – Funding
Overview & Scrutiny Report
January 2017 - Mildenhall Hub –
Funding
Mildenhall Hub – Investing in
renewable energy technologies

Appendices:
Appendix 1 – Risk Assessment
summary
Appendix 2: An explanation of the
proposed heating and power
technologies
Appendix 3: Case studies
Appendix 4: Indicative Cash Flow
Projection Summary

Page3 43

Important Note:
This report relates specifically to the funding of renewable energy
provision in the Mildenhall Hub, as an addendum to the existing
business case. The project is subject to planning consent and all
planning matters, including those relevant to renewable technologies,
will be considered separately by the Local Planning Authority and
Development Control Committee.
Executive Summary
This report presents the detailed business case for investing in the renewable
energy technologies at the proposed Mildenhall Hub. The proposals comprise
heating, cooling and power generation along with battery storage.
The proposals are being put forward on the basis that they are expected to
deliver a range of benefits for the council and stakeholders in the project
including investment return in line with the council’s financial objectives,
energy cost savings to other partners occupying the Hub, increased resilience
of energy supply and business continuity, and lower carbon emissions
compared to the conventional heating and cooling.
The proposals are predicted to deliver a rate of return on investment of
11.47% before borrowing costs resulting from operational heating and cooling
savings, energy price savings derived from using stored power when it’s
cheaper than grid-supplied power, and income from the Renewable Heat
Incentive (RHI). Compared to conventional heating and cooling, after running
costs and costs of borrowing have been taken into account compared to the
savings and income generated by the investment, the proposals are predicted
to realise a net financial benefit greater than £117,000 annually.
The ‘base case’ for gas boilers and cooling has already been costed into the
main Mildenhall Hub business case budget of £20M. The renewable energy
proposals will require an additional capital investment of up to £2M.
The proposals, should they be approved, will be developed to meet the
council’s strategic and financial objectives and will demonstrate leadership by
investing to reduce its environmental impact and showing innovation by the
adoption of renewable energy technologies.

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

In June 2017, Forest Heath District Council (FHDC) approved an outline for a
business case for renewable heat, power and cooling along with energy
storage within the design of the proposed Mildenhall Hub (Report No.
CAB/FH/17/030 refers).

1.2

This report presents the detailed business case for investing in the renewable
energy technologies based on further technical and financial evaluation

4
Page 44

carried out by our consultants, Concertus. As stated in the previous report,
as with the whole Mildenhall Hub project, this work is being carried out at risk
by the Council, in its developer capacity, since the planning consent is yet to
be determined. However, the evaluations and proposals that have resulted
have been used to inform the relevant elements of the planning application.
1.4

This report sets out the rationale and the case for investment against five key
themes:






Strategic
Economic
Commercial
Financial
Management.

2.

Project description and outline of envisaged benefits

2.1

On the basis of studies carried out by technical specialists, initially Ramboll
and currently Concertus Design and Property Consultants, preferred
technologies for heating, cooling and powering the proposed Mildenhall Hub
have been identified and assessed based on their feasibility and viability.

2.2

An outline of the proposed approach to heating, cooling and powering the
Mildenhall Hub is set out below:i.

Heating and cooling would be provided by a combination of Ground
Source Heat Pumps (Heat Pumps), Combined Heat and Power (CHP)
plant and gas boilers.
Automatic controls would ensure that the
building’s base heating and cooling come principally from the Heat
Pumps and the CHP plant with gas boilers and air conditioning only
operating if needed.

ii.

Electrical power would be generated on site using the CHP plant and
roof-mounted solar panels. Generation will either be used in the Hub to
offset any power which would have been imported from the grid or
could be exported to the grid or other connected consumers.

iii.

Solar photovoltaic panels would be installed on the roof to supply power
to the building when generating.

iv.

Battery storage would provide several commercial and operational
benefits; power generated on-site can be stored and used to offset grid
electricity when the latter is more expensive. Battery storage would
also provide a buffer in times of supply disruption and resilience of
supply to critical infrastructure. Battery storage can also buffer short
periods when the grid is experiencing an imbalance between between
demand and supply. In these cases, the Network System Operator has
the responsibility of bringing the system back into balance. It does this
by paying for power stations to ramp up or down their supply or
customers to change their level of demand in real time through the
balancing market. Those with the ability to store power at these times
are able to receive income by avoiding using grid power and by
providing the Network Operator with capacity to balance the local

Page5 45

network (termed grid support services).
More explanation of the proposed technologies is set out in Appendix 2 with
case studies demonstrating the practical application of these technologies
shown in Appendix 3.
2.3

The proposals are being put forward on the basis that they are expected to
deliver a range of benefits for the council and stakeholders in the project, as
appropriate:








A rate of return on investment of 11.47% before borrowing costs resulting
from operational savings, energy price savings derived from using stored
power when it’s cheaper than grid-supplied power, and income from the
Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) which supports eligible renewable heating
technologies and grid support services
Energy cost savings to other partners occupying the Hub with principal
energy users likely to be Abbeycroft Leisure Trust and Academy
Transformation Trust, but also benefits to other tenants
Reduced electricity and gas demand compared to conventional
consumption derived from more efficient heating and on-site power
generation and use
Increased resilience of energy supply and business continuity, given the
on-site power generation and facility to store power
Lower carbon emissions compared to the conventional heating and cooling
Demonstration of leadership by the council by investing to reduce its
environmental impact and showing innovation by the adoption of
renewable energy technologies.

2.4

Concertus’ work to date suggests that, after running costs and costs of
borrowing, the net benefit of savings and generated income from the
investment will be greater than £117,000 annually. As such, the proposals
will be capable of meeting the requirements of the Council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) and also be consistent with the earlier assumption
in the main Hub business case that renewable technologies will make a
positive financial contribution to the overall Hub financial model.

2.5

As mentioned in the June 2017 report, two further options are being
considered which will form part of separate business cases:




Mildenhall Hub acting as the energy centre supplying heat to the existing
Mildenhall College Academy Sixth Form Building (MCA6) is being assessed
and a separate business case will be prepared. The options covered by
this report will be designed with sufficient flexibility to accommodate
enhancement opportunities such as connection to MCA6 either during the
procurement and construction phases of the Hub or post-construction.
This approach could also provide heat and power to other local
developments in the future.
Supply of gas to the site from anaerobic digestion rather than from the
National Grid gas network.

3

Strategic case

3.1

The business case proposals are intended to deliver to a set of key objectives:

6
Page 46

•
•
•
•
3.2

Financial viability - financially viable, taking into account both upfront
capital costs and whole life costs
CO2 emissions reduction - capable of delivering CO2 emissions reductions
Affordability - affordable to the project stakeholders and capable of
delivering cheaper fuel prices than the current heat and power systems
Security of supply - able to retain or improve upon the existing security
of supply.

The proposals are considered to be consistent with the following strategic and
organisational objectives:
a)

West Suffolk Strategic Plan:
Priority 1 – Increased Opportunities for Economic Growth. Investing in
renewable energy technologies provides both a beneficial economic
return as well as creating opportunities for stimulating local energy
technology supply chain, preferably from local provision, installation or
ongoing maintenance.
Priority 3: Homes and communities. By incorporating the proposals into
the design and operation of the Hub, the council will be demonstrating its
leadership that new developments should be fit for the future by being
properly supported by infrastructure that helps to enhance local
communities.

b)

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy: The business case accords to the
challenges facing local government finance by investing in more efficient
and/or income generating facilities. It also demonstrates that the Council
is prepared to act more commercially and take calculated investment risk
where sound, objective evidence shows that it is appropriate to do so.

c)

The Asset Management Plan: The business case supports the ongoing
commitment shown by the council to replace less efficient facilities with
more efficient facilities designed to reflect the changing nature of the
public estate and benefits gained by developing shared arrangements
with other stakeholders.

d)

Suffolk Growth Strategy and the West Suffolk Six Point Plan for Jobs and
Growth: Through this investment, the council would be continuing its
investment in Mildenhall as a key market town in West Suffolk.

e)

4.
4.1

West Suffolk Sustainability Strategy 2013-2018: The proposals accord
with the aims and objectives set out in the Strategy, by making
appropriate use of investment and public services to deliver a sustainable
future in the locality.
Economic Case
For the proposals to be considered successful, they will be judged against key
performance criteria which demonstrates that the council is getting value for
money. These will include:



Return on investment against the projected financial case
Energy and carbon savings compared to projected values and benchmarks

Page7 47





Financial value, principally as revenue savings from reduced energy cost,
by supplying heat, cooling and power to others occupying the Hub
Building performance against modelled performance
Opportunities created to enhance the proposals once they have been
delivered.

4.2

The June 2017 report set out how the proposals have been based on a robust,
systematic analysis of the potential opportunities and options appraisal carried
out by the council’s technical consultants, Ramboll, followed up by more
detailed design proposals prepared by Concertus Design and Property
Consultants.

4.3

The proposals have been modelled financially using key HM Treasury Green
Book principles and assumptions, taking account of how the council applies
these to investment proposals, and in terms of the principal environmental
impact of fossil-fuel derived energy consumption, that being CO2 emissions.
For the purposes of comparison, a base case has been assumed comprising of
conventional gas heating and electric cooling and building power consumption
using grid-supplied electricity.
The resulting financial analysis of the
proposals are shown in Appendix 4.

4.4

The capital cost of the base case has already been included in the main cost
of the Hub development. After taking account of capital and running costs
that would have to be incurred for the base case, the business case shows
indicative investment returns in line with the council’s MTFS for each of the
preferred technologies. For the purposes of testing the robustness of the
returns on investment and revenue, 15% contingency to the capital cost
estimate has been applied to each technology, an additional 10% has been
applied to the operational costs along with 10% reduction of income for
battery storage given the innovative nature of the technology.
Option

CHP
(5,000
hours) & GSHP
(Wells & Bores)
Solar PV power
generation
Battery storage
Total

Additional
Capital
Expenditure
requirement
compared to
the base case
£1,000,000

Annual net cost
saving
compared to the
base case before
Borrowing Costs

Indicative
Rate
of
Return
on
Investment

Payback
Period

-£105,200

10.52%

9.5 years

£172,500

-£10,650

6.17%

£795,000
£1,967,500

-£109,800
-£225,650

13.81%
11.47%

16.2
years
7.2 years
8.7 years

The annual cost savings include income arising from the Renewable Heat
Incentive and avoiding drawing power when the grid is in imbalance, savings
both from reduced importing of grid electricity and the use of stored power at
times when it is cheaper than importing from the grid.
4.5

The proposals are projected to deliver wider non-financial benefits. A key
benefit is the carbon savings which would be made over the assumed life of
each technology. It is predicted that in the region of 400 tonnes of CO2, or a
32% reduction, could be saved annually compared to the base case. This

8
Page 48

saving is equivalent to offsetting CO2 emissions from powering 265 homes1.

The improvement in energy efficiency and associated CO2 reduction of the
proposals does not include the additional improvement in energy efficiency
that will be achieved when compared to the existing properties that are being
replaced
4.6

The proposals could create a range of wider employment opportunities.
Subject to the final development model, the technologies will be procured
following public sector procurement rules based around the most economically
advantageous tender principle. Support will be given to allow local installation
and maintenance providers the opportunity to bid for the contracts subject to
their ability to meet our specifications.

4.7

Should the development proceed, it would establish the Mildenhall Hub as a
leading technology demonstrator in the Eastern region. The facility could be
developed to incorporate both educational experience and training
programmes with the aim of nurturing local employment in the energy
technology sector.

5

Commercial Case

5.1

An initial assessment of the risks of investing in the proposals has been
undertaken with the key risks and their impacts identified and are presented
previously in this report. Subject to approval of this business case, the
project risks will be fully assessed as part of the next phase of the design
(RIBA Stage 4).

5.2

Based on risk assessment, the council could choose to take a range of
procurement and delivery options in mitigation including:

1

Based
on
published
conversion
factors
for
grid
electricity
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greenhouse-gas-reporting-conversion-factors-2016

Page9 49

consumption





Public sector procurement
Franchising the project opportunities
Selling the rights to develop to a commercial third party.

At this time, the proposed model is for a public sector procurement of the
proposals. Further detailed assessment of the procurement options will be
undertaken subject to approval of the business case.
5.3

There are range of organisational or governance structures for delivering the
project or operating the resulting heat, cooling and power schemes. These
include:





A
A
A
A

Private sector led
Public-private shared leadership
Public Sector led
Community Interest Company.

Each structure creates a different set of stakeholder relationships and would
expose the council to more or less legal, technical and financial risk, resulting
in increased or diminished value in return.
5.4

At this time, no decision has been made although it is the intention that the
wider Hub development will be led by the council as the principal investor and
given its intention to operate the Hub. It is envisaged that the Council would
fund, procure and operate the heating, cooling and power provisions as a
main developer/owner/landlord of the Mildenhall Hub. Detailed design work
undertaken at RIBA Stage 4 will help to inform the final decision on what
would be the most appropriate project delivery and operating model.

5.5

A range of taxes could potentially apply to the different delivery structures
and stakeholders engaged in developing the proposals. These include:






Corporation Tax
Stamp Duty Land Tax
Value Added Tax
Business rates
Enhanced capital allowances (ECAs).

Much of their financial impact would apply to the wider Hub project. The
impact of these on the proposals will assessed in more detail subject to the
business case approval and detailed design.
5.6

Key stakeholders have been identified and their role in the project assessed to
ensure that they are both actively engaged and as appropriate involved in any
decisions. A stakeholder engagement plan has been drawn up and will
continue to be reviewed and updated through each project stage.

5.7

It is a principle of the development that all of the public services in the Hub
will benefit from cheaper energy to justify them being part of a hub scheme
with shared infrastructure and to assist in sustainable delivery of all public
services. In turn, the Council would expect to take a fair rate of return for its
investment, to cover its overheads and cost of borrowing on an open-book

10
Page 50

basis.
5.8

As mentioned previously, the two principal tenants in terms of energy use are
likely to be Abbeycroft and ATT, but the Hub will also be occupied by other
partners including Suffolk County Council, the police and the National Health
Service. At this time, it is understood that none of the above-mentioned
organisations intends to take an investment stake in the renewable energy
provision at the Hub although all support the concept of buying heat and
power from the council on the basis that tariffs would reflect some of the
efficiency savings gained through installing the renewable energy technology.

5.9

Arrangements will be put in place with those occupying the Hub to agree
energy provision based on the individual organisation’s stake in the
investment, their existing contractual relationship with the council and their
anticipated consumption.

5.10

Abbeycroft and the councils in West Suffolk are currently negotiating the
terms of the future management agreement for leisure provision in the
locality.
It is the long term plan that Abbeycroft becomes financially
independent of the councils. Within the terms of the proposed agreement,
the West Suffolk councils continue to support the Trust to make efficiency
gains. As a future tenant and consumer of heat and power in the Hub,
Abbeycroft can be supported in achieving some of these efficiency
improvements through provision of attractively priced heat and power linked
initially to reduction in the management fee. In the longer term, the financial
arrangement could be through a heat and power purchase agreement.

5.11

Similarly, some of the financial return could be shared with ATT through a
heat and power purchase agreement. The terms of the purchase agreement
could be included with a general tenancy agreement or kept separate. This
approach could also be used should the council agree to supply heat via a
district heating network to the existing MCA6 building.

5.12

Other tenants are more likely to pay for the services that they receive from
the council as landlord within the management component of their rent under
a more general tenancy agreement.

5.13

Subject to approval of the business case, it is proposed therefore that
discussions are held with the principal prospective tenants to establish heads
of terms for heat and power purchase.

6.

Financial case

6.1

The projected capital cost of the preferred options is set out below, which
include a 15% contingency.
Technology
Base case – gas boilers and chillers

Capital costs
£1,085,000 (included in
main Hub business case)
CHP (5,000 hours) & GSHP (Wells & £1,000,000
Bores)
Solar PV power generation
£172,500

Page1151

Battery storage
Total with 10% contingency

£795,000
£3,052,000

6.2

The financial investment and savings compared to the base case relate to the
Hub scheme as a whole, not just the FHDC facilities. The ‘base case’ capital
cost for gas boilers and cooling has already been costed into the main
Mildenhall Hub business case and the Council’s budget of £20M for its own
elements.

6.3

A summary of the indicative cash flow projections is set out in Appendix 4.

6.4

Further work on renewable technologies is being undertaken at risk as part of
the RIBA Stage 4 design stage for the Hub along with the option to connect to
MCA6. Detailed technical and financial modelling will be undertaken at this
point in the project’s development and ahead of any procurement process.

6.5

The options for financing the proposals include:
•
•
•
•

Funding from capital reserves/any underspend on the main Hub budget
estimate
Prudential borrowing
Third party commercial finance
Grant aid.

6.6

At this time, no interest free grant aid has been secured to finance the
proposals although other public authorities may be prepared to invest
alongside the Council if the Council so chose. It is proposed, therefore, that
the Council approves the whole capital sum for the business case, to be
funded on the basis that prudential borrowing is used.

6.7

The table below includes the full cost of prudential borrowing, however actual
borrowing would only take place when the council’s treasury management
activities identify such a need. For example, this could be when the council’s
cash flow management activities anticipate that an external cash injection is
required to maintain the appropriate level of cash balances for the council to
operate and fulfil its budget and service delivery requirements.
Borrowing Costs
Interest @ 3.00% (40 year PWLB rate)
Minimum Revenue Provision (over 40 years – 2.50%)
Total Borrowing Costs
Total Revenue Savings
Net Financial Benefit

£
59,000
49,200
108,200
225,650
117,450

6.8

It is still envisaged that any net financial benefit generated after the cost of
borrowing and running costs by the Council could contribute towards the
overall cost of delivering the Hub project (an assumption of £60,000 net
benefit was made in the main business case).

6.9

Given that the financial modelling shows that the council should be able to

12
Page 52

repay costs incurred through prudential borrowing and make the additional
return to meet MTFS investment principles, the proposals are considered to be
both affordable and fundable, and do not alter the overall Hub business case
which assumed a positive contribution from renewable energy to assist in
meeting the wider cost of borrowing.
6.10

Should the investigation of extending heating and cooling to the Mildenhall
College Academy Sixth Form Building demonstrate a viable case, then
dependent on the investment return that could be achieved the Council could
seek central government grant from the Heat Network Investment
Programme (HNIP). HNIP was set up at the end of 2016 to create the right
conditions for a self-sustaining heat network market to develop. The project is
funded by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) and aims to provide capital support to help deliver heat networks in
the UK and carbon savings. The amount of capital support available to
individual schemes is subject to an application process and is likely to be
capped at the minimum amount required to make a project economically
viable.

6.11

Alternative funding, delivery and operational management models are
available and already in place within the Abbeycroft Leisure Centres in Bury St
Edmunds, Haverhill and Newmarket whereby a commercial operator funds
and operates the energy-related plant, in the case of Abbeycroft the
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant. With respect to the CHP technology,
the company buys from Abbeycroft the input gas required to generate heat
and power which is then sold on to the Leisure Centre. The CHP operator
uses the cost differential between gas purchase and heat sale to
commercialise the operation under a contract typically of 15-20 years
duration. This means that Abbeycroft avoids the capital funding requirement
but takes a lower return; it also lays off the risk for operating and maintaining
the capital asset.

6.12

The approach set out above can be adopted by a developer where it wishes to
reduce its risk exposure. The impact of taking such a position would be to
reduce that the investment return significantly. This would have a significant
negative impact on the Council’s flexibility to share any value with the
partners and tenants occupying the Hub.

6.13

It is proposed, therefore, that at this stage the Council allocates the full
capital requirement based on the assumption that it will either manage each
technology directly or through procured operation and maintenance
arrangements depending on the complexity of the technology. This would
allow further research of the options for managing each technology option as
part of RIBA stage 4 detailed design of the Hub.

7.

Management Case

7.1

Should the business case be approved, the next project stages through
detailed design and procurement to construction and operation will be taken
forward as part of the wider Hub programme governance. This will help to
maintain appropriate levels of scrutiny as the renewable energy proposals
proceed and ensure both the identification and management of any interdependencies between different parts of the Hub project.

Page1353

7.2

Each project stage will be subject to gateway reviews to ensure that the
scheme as it develops is in line with the key objectives and is on target to
meet what was originally intended. The economic and financial business case
already includes a 15% capital contingency, a 10% uplift on operational cost
and corresponding 10% reduction in projected income to test the sensitivity of
the financial returns.

7.3

As the project moves through detailed design, capital and operating costs and
revenues will be refined and tested for robustness to ensure that they are
based on valid assumptions with fall back positions established should they be
needed. For example, there is flexibility both with regards to the solar pv and
battery storage technologies which could be varied in size depending on the
outcome of the detailed design of the Hub, price through the procurement
process and the investment return that could be achieved, or a change in the
council’s capital allocation.

7.4

As previously mentioned, the council intends to own and operate the
renewable energy technologies although other governance structures could be
adopted should they be appropriate as the project proceeds.
Key
stakeholders have already been identified with Abbeycroft and ATT likely to be
the largest heat and power customers of the council under the current
proposals, but the other hub tenants also having a requirement for best value.
A stakeholder engagement plan will continue to be maintained to ensure that
effective management of these relationships through the next project stages.

7.5

Resources will be allocated to manage the next project stages as part of the
wider Hub programme. Members have already approved progression to the
detailed design stage (RIBA Stage 4). Should the business case be approved,
it is proposed to allocate a £20,000 provision to support the development of
the proposals as part of the wider Hub project programme. In addition to the
technical design work which has already been budgeted for, specialist
knowledge to assess the commercial and legal aspects of governance
structures and energy contracting will be needed.
This additional
development cost has been included in the financial model in Appendix 4.

7.5

At this time, the proposals set out in this business case will be subject to a
procurement process as part of the wider hub development. Should this
approach be adopted, further work will be necessary following the outcome of
detailed project design in order to draw up the specifications both for
installation and subsequent operation and maintenance of the heating, cooling
and power provision.

7.6

Key risks to achieving the successful delivery of the proposals have been set
out in Appendix 1. Subject to approval of the business case, these will be
continue to be regularly reviewed and mitigation action taken as the project
proceeds, and also incorporated within the wider governance of the main Hub
project. If the scope or level of risk to the project changes during the detailed
design stage (RIBA Stage 4) such that the proposed capital investment is
likely to either exceed the value recommended or the predicted return is
unlikely to meet the council’s MTFS objectives, a revised business case will be
brought forward for member approval.

14
Page 54

Page1555

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1: Risk assessment summary
Risk Identification

Risk description

Potential impact

Political - Changing central Project does not achieve
government policy
defined aims, objective
affecting the viability of the and outcomes
proposals
Political/Reputational Poor engagement with
members and others
involved with decisiontaking

Inadequate buy-in to the
project.

Risk Assessment
Mitigation & Action
Inherent
Residual
level of
risk
risk
Mitigation
(after
(before
controls)
controls)
Medium
Medium
Maintain regular review of government
policy. Review project in the light of any
likely changes to policy.
Medium

Low

Regular dialogue with members and
decision takers. Presentation of findings
in clear and transparent formats to
inform debate and decision-making.

Economic - The renewable Project does not gain
energy proposals are
approval
unaffordable to FHDC and
its taxpayers

Medium

Low

Ensure robust analysis carried out at
opportunity identification/options
assessment and selection stages.
Regular review of findings at each
project stage. Identify alternative
sources of funding.

Economic - Poor cost
modelling leading to the
renewable energy
proposals being
unaffordable to FHDC and
its taxpayers

Medium

Low

Review cost modelling at each project
stage. Undertake independent review of
cost models.

Technical - Insufficient
Poor project scoping and
knowledge at each project delivery
stage

Medium

Low

Employ technical expertise. Learn from
other projects and developing-house
expertise through training and "doing".

Technical – The project
does not achieve the
anticipated outcomes and
performance levels

Poor delivery

Medium

Low

Technical - Inability to
deliver to timetable

Inadequate time allowed
Medium
to meet agreed timescales

Low

Good design brief at each project stage.
Establish aims, objectives and key
outcomes at outset. Draw up key
performance indicators relevant to the
outcomes. Properly evaluate the
feasibility/viability against a base case.
Review of likely success against key
milestones and objectives at each stage
of
project
development
Review
project
programme timetable

Technical - Poor project
management

Poor project delivery,
Medium
stated objectives not met
or outcomes achieved

Low

Financial - Ineffective
project governance and
procurement model
adopted

Unsuitable selection of
Medium
governance arrangements
and procurement of
contractors to deliver the
project

Medium

Community - Poor
stakeholders/Partners
commitment

Insufficient buy-in and
participation

Medium

Low

Identify and engage key stakeholders as
early as possible in the project
development. Establish and understand
their needs. Design and implement
stakeholder engagement process.

Medium

Medium

Early dialogue and regular involvement
of Local Planning Authority and
stakeholders.

Inability to fund the
proposals as scoped

Legal - Planning consent is Project does not succeed
not granted for the Hub

with stakeholders regularly and at key
gateways. Revise delivery timetable
based on achieving the aims, objectives
and outcomes taking account of key
interdependencies and resources.
Allocate experienced project
management. Employ external support
relevant to each project stage. Review
progress against the brief with key
stakeholders at regular intervals.
Seek expert advice on design of
ITT/specification for key stages. Follow
appropriate public procurement
processes.

Legal - There are
insufficient safeguards to
protect the interests of
FHDC and the taxpayer

Stakeholders are not
Low
prepared to commit to the
project making it unviable

Low

Develop an agreement with partners.

Community - No
transparent and fair means
of dividing costs and
benefits for the project

The project does not
secure projected income
and value not shared
between stakeholders

Low

Low

Develop an agreement with partners.

Community - Poor
communications with
wider community/tax
payers

Ineffective engagement
with stakeholders

Medium

Low

Establish and implement a
communications plan. Ensure linkage to
Stakeholder Engagement.

Page 57

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2: An explanation of the proposed heating and power
technologies
Combined Heat and Power (CHP)
CHP is highly efficient process that captures and utilises the heat that is a byproduct of the electricity generation process. The plant will be automatically
controlled to act as the lead when there is both a heating and electrical demand
within the building. The CHP will be sized to meet the base heating load of the
building, as this ensures that it will be run almost continuously with little to no
heat wastage. Running the CHP system for as long as possible also improves the
efficiency of the engine and therefore it’s financial payback time. The CHP will
be served by a gas engine with gas boilers providing top up only during the
coldest days.
Ground Source Heat Pump (GSHP)
The majority of the heating energy being supplied to the Hub will look to come
from a Ground Source Heat Pump serving underfloor heating. Ground Source
Heat Pumps offer efficiencies higher than gas boilers, they also have the benefit
of being able to the reverse cycle to be able to heat or cool the building. This
means that instead of heat being supplied to the Hub, it could also be extracted
in the warmer months, helping to cool the building down and decrease the
amount of overheating occurring.
Ground Source Heat Pumps can either be open or closed loop and work by
extracting heat from the ground, upgrading it using a compressor and then
transfers the heat to the buildings heating system. There are two main types of
GSHP, vertical bore holes or horizontal trenches. Vertical bore holes may be
required to go down to depths of greater than 100m and therefore a ground
survey is required to determine their suitability. Whereas horizontal trenches will
typically be laid only a few metres under the ground but will require a large
horizontal run to ensure sufficient heat is exchanged.
The Ground Source system can also be reversed cycled, extracting heat from the
building instead of the ground. This helps to cool the building down during the
winter months and reduces the amount of overheating occurring. With a number
of ground source heat pump units combined in series the relative heating and
cooling energy required by the Hub can be shared between the units. Put simply,
if one area of the Hub is too hot then this heat could be extracted and moved to
an area that is too cold. This exchange of energy between different parts of the
building is extremely efficient and can increase the COP of the GSHP
considerably.
Battery storage and how it works
Electricity demand and supply is balanced on a second by second basis to
maintain secure electricity supplies. If electricity supply is insufficient to meet
demand, or exceeds what is needed, the system can become unstable,
ultimately leading to blackouts.
The use of battery storage to offset the use of peak cost grid-imported electricity
using energy stored before the peak is an innovative use of a proven technology.
An additional benefit of using a storage technology is that it also provided

Page 59

protection against short-term network outages when IT equipment and other
sensitive plant can be protected against unexpected loss of power.
Variations in demand are predictable. Therefore, electricity suppliers can work
out in
advance what they need to purchase from the generators, using a mix of long
term
contracts and short term trades, to balance out most the changes in demand in
different
seasons of the year or at different times of the day. This is the wholesale market
which is effective at matching anticipated demand with supply but it is unable to
deal with the
smaller and less predictable differences that occur in real time.
There may be an imbalance in demand and supply, e.g. a supplier may have
misjudged the demands that its customers will make on the system at a given
time or a power station may break down or otherwise be unable to generate the
amount of electricity it had anticipated. In these cases, the System Operator has
the responsibility of bringing the system back into balance. It does this by
paying for power stations to ramp up or down their supply or customers to
change their level of demand in real time through the balancing market.
Through a contract, this becomes income for those building operators that can
avoid drawing from the grid at times of imbalance. Battery storage allows this
to happen.
Solar photovoltaics
Solar power generation is now a mature technology and is becoming
commercially viable without the need for financial incentives to invest. The
generation of power offsets the importation of electricity from the grid. Power
can also be stored where battery technology is combined with solar to allow the
power to be used on site beyond the usual profile of solar generation.

Page 60

Appendix 3: Case studies
Battery storage
Asda, Newquay – The retailer has installed battery storage at its Newquay store
to provide cost savings and improving operational resilience with 2 hours of
uninterruptable power supply.
Thornton Science Park, University of Chester – The University has used battery
storage as part of locally controlling power in its new major research and
innovation hub developed in 2017. The “microgrid”, which will be the first of its
kind at a UK university campus, will play a key role in the energy centre’s
mission to be a demonstration environment, where innovative energy
technologies can be developed and tested.
UK Power Networks, Hemsby, near Great Yarmouth – UKPN installed 200kWh
Lithium -Ion battery at an electricity substation site in Hemsby in 2013. This
was a demonstrator project to look at the benefits for the local grid.
Multiple-site commercial investment across the UK - Battery storage systems are
being deployed at 10 solar farms around Britain owned by infrastructure investor
Ancala Partners with plans to have 185MW of battery storage by the end of
2018. The portfolio, which was installed with the help of storage provider
Anesco, can store 12MWh of power and has a maximum output of 11MW. As
well as being used to store surplus energy from the sites until it is needed, the
batteries will also provide balancing and frequency response services to National
Grid.
Ground Source Heat Pump
West Suffolk House, Bury St Edmunds - West Suffolk has experience of investing
in this technology with the development of West Suffolk House. The building is
heated and cooled using an open loop system where water is extracted from
wells close by in the ground, and the low grade heat stored in the water
compressed and transferred via a pipework system running through each floor
plate.
Combined Heat and Power (CHP)
Various sites in West Suffolk, Abbeycroft Leisure Trust - West Suffolk’s leisure
partner, Abbeycroft Leisure Trust (ACL), has installed Combined Heat and Power
(CHP at two of its facilities, Bury and Haverhill Leisure Centres, and is in the
process of completing a third installation at Newmarket Leisure Centre. The
technology provider/operator, Eurosite, funds the installation and operation,
buying the gas from ACL, generating and selling heat and electricity which it
then sells back to the Trust. The technology delivers cost and energy efficiency
savings for ACL and the financial model creates sufficient surplus to fund the
capital and running costs at commercial rates of return for Eurosite over a 15
year contract.

Page 61

Hybrid Combined Heat and Power (CHP) and Heat Pump technologies
Alder Hay Hospital, Liverpool – completed in 2015, the heating and cooling
system for the new Alder Hay Hospital uses both Ground Source Heat Pumps
(GSHP) served by wells in the ground and Combined Heat and Power to generate
heat and power. The GSHP system takes some of the surplus heat generated
from the CHP unit which is then discharged into the round using the wells to
provide greater system efficiencies as well as a heat store.
This greatly
increases the energy efficiency and financial savings from the whole system.
Dumfries and Galloway Royal Infirmary, Dumfries – the new hospital is being
heated, cooled and predominantly powered by a combination of ground source
heat pump and Combined Heat and Power technologies.

Page 62

Appendix 4: Indicative Cash Flow Projection Summary
Year

0

1

2

3

39

40

TOTAL

£1,084,590

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£1,084,590

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0
£0
£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0
£0
£0

-£68,900
-£179,641
-£29,400

-£70,278
-£183,234
-£29,988

-£71,684
-£186,899
-£30,588

-£146,227
-£381,253
-£62,396

-£149,151
-£388,878
-£63,643

-£4,161,702
-£10,850,694
-£1,775,818

Revenue Expenditure

£0

-£277,941

-£283,500

-£289,170

-£589,875

-£601,672

-£16,788,215

Net Revenue Savings / (Cost)

£0

-£277,941

-£283,500

-£289,170

-£589,875

-£601,672

-£16,788,215

Present Value - Revenue Savings / (Cost)

£0

-£277,941

-£277,941

-£277,941

-£277,941

-£277,941

-£11,117,658

£3,051,842

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£3,051,842

Income Generation

£0

£165,015

£166,728

£168,475

£340,495

£347,305

£9,699,926

Energy Cost Offset - Gas
Energy Cost Offset - Electricity

£0
£0

£66,420
£120,719

£67,748
£124,286

£69,103
£129,992

£140,977
£309,932

£143,797
£317,609

£4,012,020
£8,119,199

£0

£352,154

£358,762

£367,570

£791,405

£808,711

£21,831,145

Base Case
Capital Cost
Income Generation
Energy Cost Offset - Gas
Energy Cost Offset - Electricity
Revenue Savings
Gas Costs
Electricity Costs
Other (Repairs & maintenance, annualised plant referbishment costs)

CHP (5,000 hours) plus GSHP (Wells & Bores), Battery Storage and
Solar PV
Capital Cost

Revenue Savings
Gas Costs

£0

-£82,585

-£84,237

-£85,922

-£175,271

-£178,776

-£4,988,317

Electricity Costs

£0

-£214,633

-£218,926

-£223,304

-£455,515

-£464,625

-£12,964,252

Other (Repairs & maintenance, annualised plant referbishment costs)

£0

-£107,221

-£109,365

-£111,553

-£227,555

-£232,106

-£6,476,361

Revenue Expenditure

£0

-£404,439

-£412,528

-£420,779

-£858,341

-£875,508

-£24,428,930

Net Revenue Savings / (Cost)

£0

-£52,285

-£53,766

-£53,209

-£66,936

-£66,796

-£2,597,785

Present Value - Revenue Savings / (Cost)

£0

-£52,285

-£52,712

-£51,142

-£31,539

-£30,856

-£1,781,148

Summary
Additional Capital Cost compared to Base Case

£1,967,252

£0

£0

£0

£0

£0

£1,967,252

Additional Revenue Savings compared to Base Case

£0

£225,656

£229,734

£235,962

£522,939

£534,876

£14,190,430

Additional Present Value - Revenue Savings compared to Base Case

£0

£225,656

£225,230

£226,799

£246,402

£247,085

£9,336,510

Borrowing Costs of additional capital requirement

£0

-£108,199

-£108,199

-£108,199

-£108,199

-£108,199

-£4,327,955

Revenue Savings after Borrowing Costs

£0

£117,458

£117,031

£118,600

£138,203

£138,886

£5,008,555

Assumptions used:
-

Inflation rate of 2%
Interest rate of 3% - current 40 year PWLB rate
Minimum Revenue Provision of 2.5% - 40 year asset life
Discount rate of 2%
Capital contingency of 15%
Plant refurbishment costs have been including in the annual running costs of the
technology.

Page 63

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

COU.FH.17.022

ANNUAL
SCRUTINY REPORT
2016-2017

Produced: May 2017
Approved by Council: XX July 2017

Page 65

Forest Heath District Council
Annual Scrutiny Report 2016-2017
Contents
Page No:

Introduction

3

What does Scrutiny do?

4-5

How does Scrutiny work?

5-7

Review of Past Year – Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Review of Past Year – Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Work Programmes for 2017-2018

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

8-15
16-18
19

Page 66

2

Introduction

Councillor Simon Cole

Councillor Louis Busuttil

Chairman of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
2016-2017

Chairman of the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee
2016-2017

Welcome to the Annual Report on the overview and scrutiny function at Forest
Heath District Council.
Overview and scrutiny is central to the decision-making process of the Council,
and this Annual Report sets out the work of the committee during 2016-2017.
The report is not intended to cover all the work of the committee in great detail,
but to present some examples of where and how scrutiny has contributed to
change, challenge and service improvements, and to give you a flavour of the
work undertaken, in the hope that you will be encouraged to play more of a role
in the scrutiny process in the coming year.
2016-2017 was another busy year for the committee, with the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee carrying out several policy and scrutiny reviews alongside
our usual workload. The Committee also held informal joint scrutiny meetings
with members of St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny
Committee to discuss key issues for West Suffolk.
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee continued to increase the scope
of its internal and external audit monitoring role.
2016-2017 was also another strong year for external involvement in our
scrutiny reviews, with representatives from partner organisations attending
meetings or taking part in consultations to help the committees with their
investigations.
We hope you find this Annual Report both informative and interesting, and that
you will continue to follow the progress of the scrutiny function at Forest Heath.

May 2017

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 67

3

What does Scrutiny do?
The scrutiny function of this and other councils was introduced under the Local
Government Act 2000, which required councils to set up new structures to
replace the previous committee system. The aim of the Government’s
programme for modernising local government was for local people to know more
about how their local council works and to get more involved. As part of this,
councils were required to establish at least one “overview and scrutiny
committee” to monitor decisions made and where appropriate, to advise the
Council on matters of policy or service delivery.
Forest Heath has two such committees. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee
looks back at how and why decisions were made, how services are functioning
and where improvements can be made, but in its role as community leader also
looks at wider issues. It also examines new and evolving policies.
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee has particular responsibility for
monitoring the performance of services, as well as internal audit, risk
management and procurement, and has responsibility for scrutinising the
Council’s budget, including any proposals for cost reductions and approving the
Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts.
Each Committee comprises ten Members. The arrangements for appointments to
the Committees are made without compliance with the political balance
requirements in SS15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
What we don’t do
Overview and Scrutiny does not deal with individual complaints. The council has
a complaints procedure in place to deal with this. However, the Committee
welcomes suggestions on wider issues which members of the public feel should
be reviewed. The functions and responsibilities of the Committee are set out in
detail in the Council’s Constitution, which is available on the Council’s website.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Responsibilities:







Community leadership
Reviews
Pre-decision scrutiny
Post implementation review
Policy development and review
External and joint scrutiny

 Call-ins and Councillor Calls for
Action
 Holding the Cabinet to account
 Holding Portfolio Members to
account
 Scrutiny improvement

As the Council’s critical friend, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee holds the
Cabinet to account for its actions by monitoring the decision making process and
testing existing practices to check they are working properly. It can also call in
Cabinet decisions to scrutinise them before they are put into practice. The
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is able to stand back from the decision making
process, look at the outcomes for the people of Forest Heath and West Suffolk
and contribute to ensuring improved performance.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 68

4

The Committee also looks at the impact on the community of key plans and
strategies within the Council’s policy framework, investigating why things are as
they are, researching options, challenging assumptions and suggesting
improvements. When looking at a new policy, the Committee ensures it would
contribute to the Council’s priorities as set out in the West Suffolk Strategic Plan
2014-2016, and that any links to other Council policies demonstrate continuity.
When reviewing existing policies, the Committee investigates how successful it
has been, whether it achieved its objectives within budget and to timescale, and
what needs to change. In all its policy development, the Committee aims to
enhance services and make life better for people living and working in Forest
Heath, as well as those visiting us.
The Committee has up to eight scheduled meetings per year.
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
 Performance management
 Internal and external audit
responsibilities
 Strategic risk management

 Revenue and Capital Budget monitoring
and budget development
 Scrutiny of the annual accounts
 Procurement

Scrutiny also has an important role to play in monitoring the performance of
services. The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee looks at how well the
Council’s services are performing by considering a range of information such as
performance indicators and reports from external inspectors, and by monitoring
action plans. It does not carry out reviews, but may recommend that a review is
carried out by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or another appropriate
committee or working group where a need has been identified.
This Committee also leads on improvement planning and risk management, as
well as monitoring the Council’s budget, and approving the Council’s Annual
Statement of Accounts in accordance with the powers delegated to it under the
Council’s Constitution. It also leads on the development of a sustainable forward
budget. In 2016-2017 it held five informal joint monitoring meetings with St
Edmundsbury’s Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, plus a special
individual meeting in September to consider the annual accounts.

How does Scrutiny work?
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a rolling work programme which
prioritises the investigations it will carry out over the coming months and is
reviewed and updated at each meeting. Managing the work programme with this
flexibility enables the Committee to consider matters of local concern, not
previously scheduled but which may merit inclusion during the year.
The Committee gathers evidence from a variety of sources including the Council’s
own information, other local authorities, partner organisations, service users,
expert witnesses or research carried out by the committees themselves. Once it
has gathered all the evidence the committee makes its report, complete with
recommendations, usually to the Cabinet.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 69

5

Call-ins
Any decision by Cabinet or a Cabinet Member may be “called in” by any five
members of the Council. Call-in is used where Councillors have evidence which
suggests that a decision was not taken in accordance with the principles of good
decision making set out in the Constitution, or in the context of the Council’s
policy or budget framework, and is only used in exceptional circumstances.
Councillor Call for Action
The Councillor Call for Action (CCfA) was introduced under Section 119 of the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (the Act) and came
into force on 1 April 2009.
The Act enables any councillor to refer to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
any local government matter or any crime and disorder matter which affects
their ward / division, within certain limitations.
These limitations are set out in the Councillor Call for Action Protocol, which is
available as part of the Council’s Constitution. Since its introduction the
Committee had received no Councillor Call for Action requests.
Training and Development
We recognise the importance of training and development for both Councillors
and officers who support the scrutiny role at Forest Heath. Regular targeted
training, both internally and externally has facilitated in the development of a
successful scrutiny function.
Meetings
Meetings are held in public (except when exempt or confidential material is being
discussed), and in order to prevent whole meetings being taken up by a single
topic, “Task and Finish / Research” groups are set up to carry out major reviews
and report back to the main committee with their recommendations.
Engaging with Public and Stakeholders
The scrutiny committees work hard to develop and improve the scrutiny process
at Forest Heath and aims to continually increase the involvement of stakeholders
and public engagement at its meetings through public speaking.
The Committee gathers evidence with the involvement of external witnesses, and
invites representatives to attend meetings to assist in its work. In the last year,
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has formally invited organisations and
individuals to attend meetings and assist in reviews including:






Members of the public
Passenger and Transport Operations Manager (Suffolk County Council)
Service Delivery Manager (Stephensons of Essex)
Barley Homes Group Ltd (Directors)
Abbeycroft Leisure Chief Executive and Trustees

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 70

6

For further information or answers to any queries relating to the Council’s
Overview and Scrutiny function or activities, please contact Christine Brain,
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) on (01638) 719729 or email
Christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 71

7

Members of Overview and Scrutiny (2016–2017)
The Committee comprises ten members, or as may from time to time be
determined by the Council. No member of the Cabinet may be a member of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
Committee Members

Councillor Simon Cole
Committee Chairman

Cllr Chris Barker
Cllr John Bloodworth
Cllr Rona Burt
Cllr Brian Harvey
Cllr Christine Mason
Cllr David Palmer
Cllr Nigel Roman
Cllr Reg Silvester

Councillor Ruth Bowman
Committee Vice-Chairman

Review of the Past Year
This section describes some of the key scrutiny topics covered during the year
(June 2016 to April 2017), and their associated outcomes.
Informal Joint Overview and Scrutiny Meetings
The Committee held one extraordinary Informal Joint Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meetings during the year with Members of St Edmundsbury’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to enable informal joint discussions to take
place between the two authorities.
Following the informal joint discussions, the two Overview and Scrutiny
Committee’s then met separately and voted on the recommendations for
consideration for each council’s respective Cabinet.
Reviews carried out in Informal Joint Overview and Scrutiny Meetings
Devolution
On 8 September 2016, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s held a workshop
on “What will devolution mean for West Suffolk?” and was open to all members
of both councils to attend.
The aim of the workshop was to inform and drive the agenda for the Joint
Overview and Scrutiny taking place on 4 October 2016. The key issues identified
during the workshop were:
 Running costs of the Combined Authority;
 Statutory bodies and their duties/powers in relation to the role of the
Combined Authority and the arrangements proposed for voting;
 The Combined Authority Board and Co-opted persons;
 Governance and exit arrangements; and
 Double devolution and subsidiarity.
Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 72

8

On 4 October 2016, the Committee received a report which provided members
with additional information on the five key areas identified following the
workshop held on 8 September 2016. In response to a number of questions
raised, the following responses were provided:
Running costs of a Combined Authority
1)

Within the Norfolk and Suffolk Deal, £25 million a year of new money would
be provided for the next 30 years to support economic growth; development
of local infrastructures and jobs.

2)

The Government had proposed gateway reviews to be carried out every five
years between the Combined Authority and the Government in relation to
the £25 million funding per year.

3)

All Constituent Councils within a Combined Authority would be equal
partners and would have one vote, except where the members had a
statutory role.

4)

A Shadow Combined Authority would be created and would be made up of
existing staff to carry out the roles of the three statutory posts. Once the
Elected Mayor was in place, they would then decide on staffing.

Combined Authority Board and Co-opted persons
Members expressed concerns regarding the Mayor and their ability to vote
against a majority decision or proposal by right of veto.
Double devolution and subsidiarity
Double devolution and subsidiarity was not about structural change, but wanting
to see more engagement and delivery locally; making accountability more local
and the need to deliver what was contained with the devolution deal.
The Committee recommended to Cabinet that it wished to express its concerns
regarding the veto vote of the Mayor.
Reviews carried out Annually
Car Parking
On 10 November 2016, the Committee received an update on the
implementation of the Car Parking Review. The report included information on
usage; occupancy; impact of the home of horse racing; pocket car parks;
enforcement; road directional signage; new information boards; improvements to
Rous Road car park; electric charging points; Park Mark; residential parking
zones; Civic Parking Enforcement and financial income.
The Committee asked questions to which comprehensive responses were
provided. In particular discussions were held on progress towards potential Civil
Parking Enforcement in Suffolk, and the impact of parking in the near future in
relation to the Home of Horseracing and where coaches would park. Detailed
discussions were also held on on-street parking enforcement, which was the
responsibility of the police authority.
Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 73

9

The Committee recommended that the Head of Operations, under his delegated
authority, and in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Operations,
incorporates the Snooker Hall Pocket Car Park spaces into All Saints Car Park for
use by pay and display customers.
Large Project Reviews
Housing Development Company - Barley Homes (Group) Ltd - Initial Five
Year Business Plan
On 10 November 2016, the Committee received a report which asked Members
to scrutinise the content of the Barley Homes initial five year Business Plan, prior
to being considered by Cabinet and Full Council in December 2016 to approve the
funding mechanism required to deliver the plan. Attached as Exempt Appendix A,
was the Barley Homes Group Business Plan.
The Committee was reminded of the primary function of Barley Homes, which
was to generate profits through the development of new housing for sale and
rent, on land owned by one of the councils initially in west Suffolk. The
establishment of the housing company was one of the many ways that the
council was looking to become self-sufficient through new income generation
activities, as central government grants were reduced and eventually removed.
The Report set out key issues, which included initial sites; investment
opportunity and financial returns; monitoring of progress and future development
decisions; delivery of the business plan; legal implications and the next steps.
The Committee considered in detail the Exempt Appendix A, and asked a number
of questions to which comprehensive responses were provided, and made a
number of recommendations to Cabinet.
Mildenhall Hub Project: Financial Business Case
On 12 January 2017, the Committee had the opportunity to scrutinise outline
funding plans for the Mildenhall Hub project before a funding agreement and final
budget was considered by Council in February 2017. The report focused
primarily on the funding elements on which Forest Heath will take a direct lead.
The Mildenhall Hub was a bold and innovative project to review and upgrade the
public estate in Mildenhall. The Council’s own elements of the scheme included a
leisure centre and the replacement of its offices at College Heath Road. Whilst
the Council had already committed to progressing the design of the Hub, it
needed to finalise its funding arrangements in February 2017 before any planning
application was made. Although some information was still awaited, the current
indicators were that the Forest Heath elements of the scheme were likely to be
financially deliverable in accordance with the Council’s Medium-Term Financial
Strategy. Furthermore, an investment by Forest Heath in the project would
deliver considerable benefits on behalf of the local community and also address
significant existing asset management issues.
The central element of the Hub, which would contain the Council’s new shared
offices, was likely to be deliverable within available resources and generate a
saving to taxpayers. The new leisure centre offered a considerable increase in
the quality and scale of facilities for the area, to meet current identified need.
Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 74

10

After applying available sources of capital, delivery of this leisure facility would
require some borrowing, but this would be supported in full or part by savings
made on running costs, including those from moving to new offices and the
installation of advanced renewable energy technologies.
Discussions were held on: cash-flow for the project; the length of tenant
partnership agreements; the capital cost of the Forest Heath elements of the
project and other capital receipt estimates; the proposed 40 year life cycle for
the project’s finances; future renewable energy business case; previous land
swaps and assumptions made around site values.
The Committee was pleased at how the scheme was progressing and noted the
current funding position to date, and requested that the later reports to
councillors in February 2017 included more information on project cash flow.
Review of Abbeycroft Leisure Limited Performance 2005-2016
On 12 January 2017, the Committee received a requesting member’s review the
performance of Abbeycroft Leisure in Forest Heath, which would then inform the
development of a new Partnership Agreement.
The report included information on the establishment of Abbeycroft Leisure;
trustees and governance; core business for West Suffolk; attendance levels;
continuous improvement and quality management; initiatives and projects;
business development and diversification; financial performance; strategic leisure
support and advice; approaches and cost of other local authorities; challenges
and the future. The Chief Operating Officer for Abbeycroft Leisure gave a short
PowerPoint Presentation which showcased the activities of Abbeycroft Leisure.
Discussions were held on challenges around the employment of staff and
developing skills; the investment fund; and the management of pension
liabilities. In particular Members:
-

Discussed the proposed length of the agreement, and raised some concern
that this was not explored further in the report;

-

Sought clarification as to what was meant in the recommendation around
“transparency of costs”, and suggested that this be amended to read “full
disclosure of costs”;

-

Discussed the partnership moving forward and what would change. It was
reported that the investment fund would provide Abbeycroft with the
ability to bid for funds and the Council investing in its assets;

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) - Changes to Anti-Social
Behaviour Legislation
On 12 January 2017, the Committee was updated on legislative changes
regarding certain powers to control Anti-social behaviour. The report set out the
details of the Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) the District proposed to
adopt, subject to public consultation. It also set out the transition arrangements
for the Newmarket and Brandon Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs) to
PSPOs; the proposed transition from Dog Fouling Orders, originally adopted
under the Dogs Fouling of Land Act 1996 and the Clean Neighbourhoods and
Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 75

11

Environment Act 2005 to a PSPO Dog Control Order; the adoption of a Dog
Control Order which excludes dogs from specific sites listed in Scheduled 1. The
details included consultation requirements; publication; signage; enforcement;
and future reviews periods for PSPOs.
Discussions were held on the proposed Orders relating to dogs. The Committee
noted that the proposed Order relating to dog fouling included all public open
space in the District, regardless of ownership, but that the proposed Dog
Exclusion Orders (list of current sites included in Schedule 1) had to be for
specifically designated areas, with the land owners consent. The Committee felt
that the District Council should invite the Parish and Town Councils to include
their play areas in the Dog excluded sites order.
The Committee noted the conditions included in the proposed Newmarket and
Brandon alcohol-related PSPOs would remain the same as was included in the
earlier DPPO’s, and made recommendations to Cabinet, subject to public
consultation.
Member Work Programme Suggestion Review
Transport Links for Rural Villages in Forest Heath
In January 2016, the Committee considered and included in its forward work
programme a member suggestion relating to “transport links for rural villages in
Forest Heath”. The Committee had acknowledged that the District Council was
not the responsible authority for transport and suggested before contacting
various bus and rail operators that Suffolk County Council be invited to a future
meeting of the Committee to listen to its concerns regarding transport issues in
Red Lodge and answer questions from the Committee.
On 9 June 2016, the Passenger and Transport Operations Manager from Suffolk
County Council (SCC) attended to answer questions from the Committee.
Members were informed that SCC had a duty to assess the need for transport,
but there was no duty to provide. SCC held regular liaison meetings with various
bus companies across and outside of Suffolk. It was working towards a Quality
Bus Partnership with certain standards set, such as better co-ordinated timings
and multi-use tickets. SCC monitored transport provision and looked at the
unmet need, which could be brought to the attention of transport providers at
the liaison meetings. However, bus timings were set by the schools and where
peak demand was. In between these times, buses were expected to connect
with other service providers.
Members of the Committee asked a number of questions of the Passenger and
Transport Operations Manager. In particular discussions were held on the
changes in social needs; ticket machines and real-time information; connecting
communities; public transport apps and the possibility of creating a website to
enable users to discuss their public transport requirements.
On 20 October 2016, an extraordinary meeting of the Committee was convened
to enable a number of public transport providers to be invited to a dedicated
meeting to discuss the rural transport services they provided and their
integration in Red Lodge and to listen to the Committee’s concerns. Four public
transport operators had been invited to the meeting and were asked to respond

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 76

12

to a series of questions prior to the meeting.
provider accepted the Committee’s invitation.

Unfortunately only one service

The Service Delivery Manager from Stephensons of Essex attended the meting to
answer questions from the Committee. Members were informed that the aim of
the company was to integrate services, where possible and also tried to liaise
with train companies. However, the trains did not always co-ordinate with the
schools. It was explained that the company was trying to achieve growth on the
16/16A bus route, which ran an hourly service from Newmarket via Red Lodge to
Bury St Edmunds. The Company also aimed to work with everyone and that as a
business it wanted to grow its brand from Stephensons of Essex to Stephensons
of Suffolk.
Members of the Committee asked a number of questions of the Service Delivery
Manager. In particular discussions were held on issues around multi-ticketing;
timetabling on mobile phone apps; bus passes and reimbursement; customer
experience; monitoring bus route reliability; SCC routes and tendering; bus
stations and bus stops.
The Committee resolved, that the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Growth
further progress discussions with transport operators, in particular Stephensons
of Essex, to see how services could be improved in terms of delivery and
promotion, and report back to the Committee in due course.
Joint Task and Finish Group
On 20 April 2017, the Committee received a request from officers to establish a
Joint Task and Finish Group with St Edmundsbury Borough Council to help shape
the West Suffolk Information Strategy. The purpose of the Information Strategy
will be to seek to recognise the strategic value of information to the Council and
will promote and facilitate good information management practice, based on:
-

a set of underlying data sharing principles;
seeking to define how we use information currently;
how we should be using information in the future;
how this can deliver key outcomes to both our staff,
our operations and our customers/consumers; and
describing where technology can help facilitate this.

The Joint Task and Finish Group would consist of two members from each
authority with the Service Manager (ICT) providing technical support.
It was envisaged that a final draft of the Strategy would be considered by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet in November 2017.
Cabinet Liaison
On 9 June 2016, the Committee discussed the West Suffolk Annual Report
(2015-2016) with the Leader of the Council. The report highlighted the key
activities and developments which had been achieved over the financial year
2015-2016, with regard to the priorities set out in the West Suffolk Strategic Plan
2014-2016.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 77

13

The draft report contained a number of case studies and examples from West
Suffolk to illustrate the achievements described. The Leader highlighted relevant
issues for the attention of the Committee, in particular the continued success of
the locality budget scheme.
The Committee also considers at each meeting the Cabinet’s Decisions Plan
and requests further information or involvement as necessary.
Cabinet Members who attended Overview and Scrutiny in 2016-2017
Cabinet Member: Leader of the Council
On 9 June 2016, the Leader of the Council was invited to the meeting to the
meeting to give an account of his portfolio responsibilities and to answer
questions. The presentation set out the overall areas of responsibility including
leadership and strategic direction of the council; external relations and
communication; East Anglia devolution deal. The presentation also included
priorities for the future, such as developing a new strategic plan; RAF Mildenhall;
the Mildenhall Hub; the A11/A14 link road and better collaboration and joint
working with East Cambridgeshire and road and rail improvements and
infrastructure.
In particular members discussed with the Leader the two devolution deals /
proposed mayor(s); Local Enterprise Partnerships; and supporting members.
Lead Member for Housing
On 21 July 2016, the Shared Lead Member for Housing (St Edmundsbury
Councillor, Councillor Mildmay-White) was invited to the meeting to given an
account of her portfolio responsibilities and to answer questions from the
Committee. The presentation set out the broad areas of responsibility including
structure; recent performance; key challenges and priorities for the year. The
presentation also included the three service areas which covered development
and partnerships; housing options and housing standards.
Members discussed the presentation in detail. In particular discussions were held
on the affordable housing figures and starter homes; Barley Homes Group
Limited and the number of sites they were proposing to develop; future housing
stock; Home-link’s new software operating system; houses in multiple occupation
including the value of ward walks to identify properties; the lack of developers
currently building houses and what could be done to stimulate building.
Cabinet Members Progress Presentations
Following on from the first round of presentations from Cabinet Members during
2015-2016, Cabinet Members for Operations; Planning and Growth; Leisure and
Culture; Resources and Performance and Families and Communities were invited
back during 2016-2017 to update the Committee on progress by:


Outlining the main challenges faced during the first year within their
portfolio;



Outlining some key successes and any failures during the first year, and
any lessons learnt; and

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 78

14



Setting out the vision for their portfolio through to 2019 and whether on
target to meet that vision.

External Joint Scrutiny
Councillor Christine Mason was appointed as the Council’s representative and
Councillor John Bloodworth as Substitute Member to the Suffolk Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which is responsible for the scrutiny of
health provision across the County. Nominations to other joint county scrutiny
committees are made by Annual Council alongside other outside bodies.
Call-ins and Councillor Calls for Action
This year no Councillor Call for Actions (CCfAs) were submitted, and there were
also no call-ins.
Other
The Committee was given responsibility for scrutinising the Authority’s use of its
surveillance powers under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed
Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 2010, and received
quarterly reports on the use of these powers. During 2016-2017, no such
surveillance had been authorised.
The Committee in April 2016 was given responsibility for receiving quarterly
reports on changes made to the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer under his
delegated authority. The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Head of Paid
Service and relevant Portfolio Holder, has delegated authority to make minor
amendments to the constitution arising from changes to legislation; changes to
staffing structures or job descriptions or changes in terminology.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 79

15

Review of Past Year
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Committee Members

Councillor Louis Busuttil
Committee Chairman

Cllr Michael Anderson
Cllr Chris Barker
Cllr John Bloodworth
Cllr Rona Burt
Cllr Simon Cole
Cllr Louise Marston
Cllr Christine Mason
Cllr Peter Ridgwell

Councillor Colin Noble
Committee Vice-Chairman

This section describes some of the key scrutiny topics covered during the year
(25 May 2016 to 25 May 2017) by the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee, and their associated outcomes.
Joint working with St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee
During 2016-2017 the Committee held five informal joint meetings, at alternate
venues with St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee. In September, the Committee meet separately to scrutinise and
approve the Council’s 2015-2016 Annual Statement of Accounts.
Scrutiny of Budget Savings
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee plays an integral role in
delivering a sustainable budget for the Council. There were again significant
levels of savings to be achieved, and the Committee scrutinised all proposals for
growth and savings in the 2017-2018 budget before making recommendations to
Cabinet.
This work commenced on 24 November 2016, with a report setting out progress
made towards delivering a balanced budget for 2017-2018 and a sustainable
budget in the medium term. The report included proposed budget saving for
2017 to 2020.
The key strategy to deliver savings over the coming years is to expand the work
on shared services with Forest Heath District Council to streamline supplies,
services and income, together with a range of other local savings initiatives.
Over several meetings, the Committee scrutinised a number of proposals for
savings both through shared services and local savings, all of which were
incorporated into the Budget and Council Tax Setting report considered by
Cabinet on 14 February 2017.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 80

16

Performance Management
The Committee received on a quarterly basis the West Suffolk Balanced
Scorecards being used to measure the Council’s performance for the six Head of
Service areas for 2016-2017 and an overview of performance against those
indicators as well as the West Suffolk Strategic Risk Register.
Audit Responsibilities
The Committee scrutinised the work of the Internal Audit Team towards
achieving the 2015-2016 audit plan, with updates during the year at which the
results of completed audits were discussed. At its 25 May 2016 meeting, the
Committee approved an Outline Internal Audit Plan for 2016-2017.
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 require a review of the
effectiveness of internal audit once a year. The review forms part of the
review of the overall system of internal control required for the Annual
Governance Statement. The Committee noted the report’s conclusion, that
internal audit was operating effectively and could be relied upon as a key source
of evidence in the Annual Governance Statement.
The Council is required to produce and publish an Annual Governance
Statement (AGS), which covers six core governance principles, and is approved
by the Committee, and signed by the Leader of the Council and the Chief
Executive Officer. The Annual Governance Statement had been prepared by the
Officer Governance Group as a joint statement for Forest Heath District Council
and St Edmundsbury Borough Council to reflect both councils working together
and sharing services across West Suffolk. The Committee approved the AGS for
signing by the Chief Executive and the Leader of the Council.
Various reports from Ernst and Young (EY) were considered over the year. ON
25 May 2016 the External Audit Plan and Fees 2015-2016 and 2016-2017
Indicative Fees was received from EY which covered the work they planned to
perform in order to provide the Council with an audit opinion on the Council’s
financial statements, and a statutory conclusion on its arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. The report summarised EY’s proposed
audit approach and scope for the 2015-2016 audit along with the planned fees to
complete the work for 2015-2016, and also included the indicative fees for 20162017. At the same meeting EY presented the Certification of Claims and
Returns Annual Report 2014-2015, which set out the results of the
certification work which had been undertaken as part of the annual audit of grant
claims to government departments.
In September 2016 EY presented the 2015-2016 ISA 260 Annual
Governance Report to the Committee, which set out the key messages arising
from the audit of the Council’s financial statements, and included an assessment
of the Council’s arrangements for securing value for money in its use of
resources.
At its meeting held on 24 November 2016, EY presented the 2015-2016 Annual
Audit Letter, which confirmed the completion of the audit of the 2015-2016
financial statements.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 81

17

Budget Monitoring
Budget Monitoring reports were brought to the Committee quarterly, in order
for it to flag up any areas of concern to the Cabinet. The Committee received the
Financial Outturn Report (Revenue and Capital) 2015-2016 at its meeting
on 25 May 2016, following the 30 June deadline for production of the draft
accounts for audit. The report included a financial commentary on the year,
details of revenue and expenditure including budgeted and actual expenditure
and an explanation of the main variances, and details of how services were paid
for. Capital income and expenditure was also discussed, as well as reserves and
treasury management.
On 25 May 2017, the Committee received the Financial Outturn Report
(Revenue and Capital) 2016-2017, which included a financial commentary for
the year.
The Committee scrutinised and approved the Council’s 2015-2016 Annual
Statement of Accounts at its meeting on 22 September 2016. At the same
meeting it scrutinised the External Auditors Draft 2015-2016 ISA 260 Annual
Governance Report to those charged with governance and resolved the sign-off
of this report, including the approval of the letter of representation on behalf of
the Council.
Treasury Management
The Committee is also responsible for scrutinising during the year the Treasury
Management Investment Activity and Performance Monitoring Reports
(2016/2017), the Annual Treasury Management and Investment
Strategy Statements 2017-2018 and Treasury Management Code of
Practice.

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 82

18

Work Programme for 2017–2018
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee carries out some of its work in “Task and
Finish” groups, which undertake investigations and reviews and report back to
the main Committee. This enables a greater number of Councillors to engage in
scrutiny, as well as ensuring a Councillor lead on issues from the beginning of
their review. The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee works differently in
that the bulk of its work is set around its quarterly budget and performance
monitoring responsibilities.
The Committee has access to resources, to assist it in carrying out its work
programme, which can be used, for example, in engaging specialist assistance,
obtaining evidence, carrying out site visits, and paying for meeting
accommodation, training and development.
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a rolling work programme, set a few
meetings ahead, to enable it to be more reactive to changing priorities. In
addition to any call-ins or Councillor Calls for Action which may arise, and
additions to the rolling work programme through submitted work programme
suggestions, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the following
issues during the year:
 Cabinet Decisions Plan



West Suffolk Annual Report



Barley Homes (Group) Limited



West Suffolk Housing Strategy



Monitoring the Western Suffolk
Community Safety Partnership

In addition to the above items, Extraordinary Informal Joint Scrutiny Sessions
will be called, as necessary, with members of St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to enable common issues to be scrutinised
jointly.
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
The Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee will have the following
responsibilities and will consider quarterly monitoring reports along these lines,
jointly with St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee, as well as scrutinising the Council’s annual accounts, and making
recommendations on delivering a sustainable budget for 2018-2019.





Performance Management
(including West Suffolk Strategic
Risk Management/Corporate
Compliments and Complaints)
Budget Monitoring and Budget
Development
Internal and external audit




Financial Performance (Revenue and
Capital) monitoring and review.
2016-2017 Statement of Accounts



Procurement

 Treasury Management

For more information about how scrutiny works at Forest Heath District
Council, please contact the Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny) on
(01638) 719729.
Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 83

19

District Offices
College Heath Road
Mildenhall
Suffolk
IP28 7EY

www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Approved by Council: XX July 2017

For more information please contact the
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
on (01638) 719729 or
email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Annual Scrutiny Report – May 2017

Page 84

20

Agenda Item 11

Council
Title of Report:

Report No:

Review of Political Balance
and Appointment to Politically
Balanced Bodies
COU/FH/17/023

Report to and date:

Council

26 July 2017

Portfolio holder:

Councillor James Waters
Leader of the Council
Tel: 07771 621038
Email: james.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services)
Tel: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Purpose of report:

The Council received a written Notice under the
requirements of the Local Government (Committees
and Political Groups Regulations 1990) confirming that
Councillor Simon Cole had become a member of the
Conservative Group on Forest Heath District Council
and, as such, ceased to be a member of the West
Suffolk Independents group.
Accordingly, this has altered the political composition
of the District Council and Council is, therefore,
requested to review the allocation of seats and
substitutes to political groups in accordance with the
political balance rules.
In light of this change, Council is also being asked to
review the membership of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee which is not politically balanced.

Recommendations:

It is recommended that:
(1)

The formula for the allocation of seats to
the political groups on those Committees
which are required by law to be politically
balanced of Report No: COU/FH/17/023,
be approved;

Page 85

Key Decision:

(2)

The allocation of seats on the Committees
which are required by law to be politically
balanced, as indicated in Appendix 1 and
paragraph 1.2.1 of Report No:
COU/FH/17/023, be approved.

(3)

The allocation of seats on the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee as indicated in
paragraph 1.2.3 of Report No:
COU/FH/17/023, be approved. This
Committee is not required to be politically
balanced.

(4)

The allocation of seats on the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny Committee as indicated
in paragraph 1.2.3 of Report No:
COU/FH/17/023, be approved. This
Committee is not required to be politically
balanced.

(5)

If the Council is unable to confirm the
appointment of Members and Substitute
Members at the Council meeting on 26 July
2017, the Service Manager (Democratic
Services) be given delegated authority to
appoint Members and Substitute Members
to those bodies set out in recommendations
(2), (3) and (4) above, on the basis of
nominations from the relevant Group
Leaders.

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which
definition?
No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒

Consultation:
Alternative option(s):




None
None, as the matters under consideration
are required by the Constitution.

Implications:
Are there any financial implications?
If yes, please give details

Are there any staffing implications?
If yes, please give details
Are there any ICT implications? If
yes, please give details
Are there any legal and/or policy
implications? If yes, please give

Yes ☐ No ☒
 The review has been undertaken
within existing resources. Any
changes required as a result of the
review will also be borne from
existing budgets.
Yes ☐ No ☒
 As above.
Yes ☐ No ☒
Yes ☒ No ☐
 The Local Government and

Page 86

details

Are there any equality implications?
If yes, please give details
Risk/opportunity assessment:
Wards affected:
Background papers:
(all background papers are to be
published on the website and a link
included)
Documents attached:

Housing Act 1989 states that the
authority has a duty to review the
representation of different political
groups at, or as soon as
practicable, after a change occurs
in group composition
Yes ☐ No ☒
N/A
All Wards
None

Appendix 1: Committees required to
be politically balanced

Page 87

1.

Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s)

1.1

Political Composition

1.1.1

The political composition of the Council is as indicated in the following table:
No of
members

%

19

73.08%

West Suffolk Independent

4

15.38%

UKIP

3

11.54%

1 x vacancy

1

N/A

27

100.00%

Conservative

TOTAL
1.1.2

The Council will need to formally approve the formula for the allocation of
seats to the political groups on those Committees which are required by law
to be politically balanced (Recommendation 1).

1.1.3

The obligation to ensure that there is proportionality in the political
composition of the Council’s Committees extends only to proportionate
representation of members of political groups, and does not require nongrouped members to be proportionally represented. Seats therefore need to
be allocated only to groups.

1.1.4

In carrying out any review the Council is obliged to adopt the following
principles and to give effect to them ‘so far as is reasonably practicable’:
(a)

that not all seats on the Council are allocated to the same political
group;

(b)

that the majority of the seats on the Council are allocated to a
particular political group if the number of persons belonging to that
group is a majority of the authority’s membership;

(c)

subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, that the number of seats on
the ordinary committees of the Council which are allocated to each
political group, have the same proportion to the total of all the seats
on the ordinary committees of that authority as is borne by the
number of members of that group to the membership of the authority,
and;

(d)

subject to paragraphs (a) to (c) above, that the number of the seats
on the Council which are allocated to each group have the same
proportion to the number of all the seats on that Council as is borne
by the number of members of that group to the membership of the
Council.

1.2

Entitlement to Places

1.2.1

The table at Appendix 1 and as listed below shows those Committees that

Page 88

are required to be politically balanced:
(a) Development Control Committee (Minimum of 14 seats) (To comprise
no more than the minimum number of Members necessary to allow
appointment on the basis of one Member for each Ward, unless the
obligation to achieve political balance necessitates more than one
Member from that Ward, but no more).
(b) Licensing Committee (10 seats).
(c) Joint Officer Appointments Committee (3 seats).
(d) Joint Officer Appeals Committee (3 seats).
Politically Balanced Seats
1.2.2

Council is asked to allocate seats and substitutes to political groups in
accordance with the political balance rules and appoint membership to
those Committees (Recommendation 2):
Development Control Committee (Minimum of 14 seats; to comprise no
more than the minimum number of Members necessary to allow
appointment on the basis of one Member for each Ward, unless the
obligation to achieve political balance necessitates more than one
Member from that Ward, but no more.)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman appointed by the Committee on 7 June 2017
as indicated below.)
Conservatives
West Suffolk Independent
UKIP

10 seats
2 seats
2 seat

Ward
All Saints
Brandon East
Brandon West
Eriswell and The Rows
Exning (1 Member Ward)
Great Heath
Iceni (1 Member Ward)
Lakenheath
Manor (1 Member Ward)
Market
Red Lodge
Severals
South (1 Member Ward)
St Mary’s

Member
Stephen Edwards (CON)
Peter Ridgwell (UKIP)
David Palmer (WSI)
David Bowman (CON)
Simon Cole (CON)
Louis Busuttil (CON)
Rona Burt (CON) (Chairman)
Louise Marston (CON)
Brian Harvey (CON)
Ruth Bowman (CON)
Carol Lynch (CON)
Andrew Appleby (WSI)
Roger Dicker (UKIP)
Chris Barker (CON) (Vice Chairman)

Changes from the 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership in
summary:
1. The change in political balance causes the Conservatives to gain one
seat entitlement and WSI to lose one.
2. Therefore, as Ward Member for Exning – which is a one Member Ward
– Councillor Cole retains his seat on the Committee but as a
Conservative rather than WSI and the balance is achieved with no
actual change to membership.

Page 89

Licensing and Regulatory Committee (10 seats)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman appointed by the Committee on 19 June 2017
as indicated below.)
Conservatives
West Suffolk Independent
UKIP

7 seats
2 seats
1 seat

Political Group

Member

Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
West Suffolk Independent
West Suffolk Independent
UKIP

Michael Anderson (Vice Chairman)
Chris Barker (Chairman)
John Bloodworth
Carol Lynch
Christine Mason
Nigel Roman
Brian Harvey
Ruth Allen
Victor Lukaniuk
Reg Silvester

No change from 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership.
Joint Officer Appointments Committee (3 seats and 1 substitute seat)
(Joint Committee established with St Edmundsbury Borough Council)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman appointed by the Committee)
Conservatives
West Suffolk Independent

2 seats
1 seat

Political Group
Conservative
Conservative
West Suffolk Independent
Conservative

Member
Ruth Bowman
James Waters
David Palmer
Substitute Member
Nigel Roman

No change from 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership.

Page 90

Joint Officer Appeals Committee (3 seats and 1 substitute seat)
(Joint Committee established with St Edmundsbury Borough Council)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman appointed by the Committee)
Conservatives
West Suffolk Independent

2 seats
1 seat

Political Group
Conservative
Conservative
West Suffolk Independent
Conservative

Member
David Bowman
Brian Harvey
Ruth Allen
Substitute Member
Chris Barker

No change from 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership.
Scrutiny Committees
1.2.3

Council is then asked to allocate seats without compliance to the political
balance rules and appoint membership to the Scrutiny Committees
(Recommendations 3 and 4):
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (10 seats)
(Cabinet Members cannot be Members of this Committee)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman were appointed by Annual Council on 10 May
2017 as indicated below)
The allocation of seats for 2017/2018 as agreed on 10 May 2017 (AGM) was: 7
seats to the Conservatives and 2 West Suffolk Independent Group, 1 UKIP.
Chris Barker (CON)
John Bloodworth (CON)
Ruth Bowman (CON) (Vice Chairman)
Brian Harvey (CON)
Christine Mason (CON)

Rona Burt (CON)
Nigel Roman (CON)
David Palmer (WSI)
Simon Cole (CON) (Chairman)
Reg Silvester (UKIP)

Changes from the 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership in
summary:
1. It is intended that Councillor Cole will retain his seat and serve as
Chairman on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. This therefore
amends the apportionment from the AGM to 8 Conservatives, 1 West
Suffolk Independent and 1 UKIP.
2. Should Council approve this allocation, no further vote is required on the
Chairmanship of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 91

Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee (10 seats)
(Cabinet Members cannot be Members of this Committee)
(Chairman and Vice Chairman were appointed by Annual Council on 10 May
2017 as indicated below.)
The allocation of seats for 2017/2018 as agreed on 10 May 2017 (AGM) was: 8
seats to the Conservatives and 1 West Suffolk Independent Group, 1 UKIP.
Michael Anderson (CON)
John Bloodworth (CON)
Louis Busuttil (CON) (Chairman)
To be nominated (WSI)
Christine Mason (CON)

Colin Noble (CON) (Vice Chairman)
Chris Barker (CON)
Rona Burt (CON)
Simon Cole (CON)
Peter Ridgwell (UKIP)

Changes from the 10 May 2017 (AGM) political balance/membership in
summary:
1. The Conservative Group have relinquished one seat on this Committee
to the West Suffolk Independent Group (as indicated above – awaiting
nomination from the WSI).
2. This will restore the allocation agreed by Council at the AGM and thus a
further vote is not required.

Page 92

Entitlement to Places – July 2017

Conservative
Group

Vacancy

Entitled places (exact)

Entitled places
(rounded)

Allocated places

Entitled places (exact)

Entitled places
(rounded)

Allocated places

27*
100%

Allocated places

1

TOTAL

Entitled places
(rounded)

19
73.08%

UK
Independence
Group
3
11.54%

Entitled places (exact)

Members
Expressed as %

West Suffolk
Independent
Group
4
15.38%

Development Control

14

10.22

10

10

2.51

2

2

1.61

2

2

14

Licensing & Regulatory

10

7.31

7

7

1.52

2

2

1.15

1

1

10

Joint Officer Appointments

3

2.19

2

2

0.46

1

1

0.35

0

0

3

Joint Officer Appeals

3

2.19

2

2

0.46

1

1

0.35

0

0

3

No of
Committee seats

Page 93

*Balance is calculated on 26 Members as the District Council currently has a vacancy (By-Election taking place on 17 August
2017).

This page is intentionally left blank

